
 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Meeting	of	the	
Board	of	Directors	
 
9:00	A.M.	
Wednesday,	December	6,	2023	
	
	
	

 



Power	and	Water	Resources	Pooling	Authority	

 

 
NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

 
Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Power and Water Resources 
Pooling Authority (PWRPA) will be held on December 6, 2023, at 9:00 a.m., at the Banta Carbona 
Irrigation District, 3514 W. Lehman Road, Tracy, CA 95304, by simultaneous teleconference at the 
following locations: 

 

Glenn Colusa Irrigation District 
344 E. Laurel St., Willows, CA 95988 

 

Cawelo Water District 
17207 Industrial Farm Rd., Bakersfield, CA 

   

 

James Irrigation District 
8749 Ninth Street, San Joaquin, CA 93660 

 

Reclamation District 108  
975 Wilson Bend Road, Grimes, CA 95950  

   

 

Lower Tule River Irrigation District 
357 E. Olive Ave./Ave. 152, Tipton, CA 93272 

 

Santa Clara Valley Water District 
5750 Almaden Expressway, San Jose, CA  95118 

   

 

Princeton-Cordora-Glenn ID/ Provident ID 
252 Commercial Street, Princeton, CA 95970 

 

Sonoma County Water Agency 
404 Aviation Blvd., Santa Rosa, CA 95403 

   

 

Zone 7 Water Agency 
100 N. Canyons Pkwy, Livermore, CA 94551 

 

Westlands Water District 
3130 North Fresno St., Fresno, CA 93703  

 

Arvin Edison Water Storage District 
20401 Bear Mountain Blvd., Arvin, CA 93203 

  

Cawelo Water District 
17207 Industrial Farm Road, Bakersfield, CA 

 
Accessible Public Meetings - PWRPA shall resolve requests for reasonable modification or accommodation 
from individuals with disabilities, consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act. Requests should be 
sent as soon as practicable via email to the attention of: ADA Request pep@cameron-daniel.com 

Regular Agenda (all items below may include possible action, times are approximations) 
 
1 Chair Roll Call of all Directors participating 

2 Chair Matters Subsequent to Posting the Agenda 

3 Chair Public Comment – During Agenda Item 3, any member of the public may address 
the Board concerning any matter on the agenda.  

4 Chair 

2 Min 

Consent Agenda  

A. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting held on October 4, 2023. 
B. Minutes of the Special Board Meeting held on November 1, 2023. 

5 TR GM OM 

60 Min 

A. Treasurer’s Report - Approval of Ordering Payments of Accounts and Claims; 
acceptance of the Treasurer’s Report and other items related to Treasurer’s 
duties.  

B. Resolution 23-12-16 2023 Annual Budget and Pro Forma Rate Schedule. 

C. Resolution 23-12-17 RBI Professional Services Agreement.  

D. Resolution 23-12-18 ACES Professional Services Agreement. 

6 GM OM 

30 Min 

 

A. GM Report – New customer evaluation; PWRPA education and task team 
schedule; Regulatory updates; 2024+ strategic session. 

B. OM Report – Ops highlights; REC projections.  

C. Resolution 23-12-19 Appointment of Officers for 2024.  



 

 2 

7 GM 

15 min 

Special Projects  
A. Resolution 23-12-20 Cawelo WD REC Agreement. 

B. Resolution 23-12-21 West Stanislaus ID PPA and Rate Agreement. 

C. Utility scale project update. 

8 SC GC 

10:30 AM 

15 Min 

Closed Session 

A. Conference with legal counsel – Existing litigation: PG&E WDT3 Rate Case, 
FERC ER22-619, ER20-2878 consolidated. Pursuant to Gov’t Code section 
54956.9(d)(1).  

B. Conference with legal counsel – Pending litigation: Pursuant to Gov’t Code 
section 54956.9(d)(4). 

9 Chair Board Matters – Other announcements. 

 Chair Adjournment - Next Regular Meeting is Wednesday, February 7, 2024, at 9:00 
A.M.   

 



 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Consent	Agenda	•	Item	4	
	

1. Minutes	of	the	October	4,	2023,	Regular	Board	Meeting.		
	

2. Minutes	of	the	November	1,	2023,	Special	Board	Meeting.	
	
	

	
	

	
	

	
			
	
	
	

	

						



Power	and	Water	Resources	Pooling	Authority	

 

 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OCTOBER 4, 2023 

 
 
1 Chair  

Directors and Alternates Present: Dave Nixon (AEWSD), Ed Pattison (BBID), 
Dave Ansolabehere (CWD), Louis Jarvis (GCID), Manny Amorelli (JID), Lance Boyd 
(PPID), Gary Enos (PPID), Jordan Navarott (RD 108), John Brosnan (SCVWD), 
Dale Roberts (SCWA), Bobby Pierce (WSID), Kiti Campbell (WWD), Sal Segura 
(Z7). 
 
Also participating: Bruce McLaughlin (GM), Cori Bradley (OM), Jennifer Montoya 
(WWD). 
 
David Ansolabehere, serving in his capacity as Vice Chairman, opened the meeting 
at 9:00 A.M.  
 

2 Chair Matters Subsequent to Posting the Agenda - None 

3 Chair Public Comment – None.  

4 Chair 

 

Consent Agenda  

A. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting held on August 2, 2023. 

B. P3 Request: SCVWD energy efficiency upgrade. 

C. Cap & Trade Request: SCVWD renewable resource procurement.  

Dave Nixon moved, John Brosnan seconded, and participating Directors 
unanimously approved the Consent Agenda. 

Voting Shares: 89.4% Yes / 0% No /10.6 % Absent (BCID, LTRID) 

5 TR GM OM 

 

A. Treasurer’s Report - Approval of Ordering Payments of Accounts and Claims; 
acceptance of the Treasurer’s Report and other items related to Treasurer’s 
duties.  

Manny Amorelli moved, Sal Segura seconded, and participating Directors 
unanimously approved the Treasurers Report including the Ordering of 
Accounts and Claims. 

Voting Shares: 89.4% Yes / 0% No / 10.6% Absent (BCID, LTRID) 

B. 2024 Budget first look – Ms. Bradley presented a first look at the draft 2024 
budget. Overall, the draft budget shows lower retail sales, higher Base resource 
allocations, higher CAISO TAC rates and significantly lower PG&E WDT rates. 
The administrative overhead is relatively unchanged from historical averages.  

Ms. Bradley presented the pricing information for the Zero Carbon Water 
Portfolio resources. Also discussed was the fact that continuing to charge the 
current rates would result in significant over-collections. 

Dave Nixon moved, Jordan Navarott seconded, and participating Directors 
unanimously approved Resolution 23-10-13 Rate Review and Adjustment Rate 
Change. 

Voting Shares: 89.4% Yes / 0% No / 10.6% Absent (BCID, LTRID) 

6 GM OM 

 

A. GM Report – Mr. McLaughlin introduced his plans to implement training and 
collaboration sessions in 2024. In particular, the training sessions are designed 
to educate new Board Members on PWRPA’s formation documents, policies, 
compliance obligations, rules of procedure and operational processes. The 



 

 2 

collaboration sessions will concentrate on financial matters and, particularly, 
rate stabilization mechanisms.   

B. OM Report – Ms. Bradley presented the Ops highlights for September. She also 
updated the Board on the CEC Demand Side Grid Support Program which 
authorizes payments for districts that voluntarily reduce demand.  

C. Consider and possibly approve Resolution 23-10-14 2022 Power Content Label. 

Dave Nixon moved, Sal Segura seconded, and participating Directors 
unanimously approved the 2022 Power Content Label which, as in previous 
years, included a Zero Carbon Water Portfolio and Standard Water Portfolio. 

Voting Shares: 89.4% Yes / 0% No / 10.6% Absent (BCID, LTRID) 

D. Consider and possibly approve Resolution 23-10-15 Meeting Dates for 2024. 

Dave Nixon moved, Manny Amorelli seconded, and participating Directors 
unanimously approved the Resolution setting the 2024 Meeting Dates. 

Voting Shares: 89.4% Yes / 0% No / 10.6% Absent (BCID, LTRID) 

7 GM OM 

 

Special Projects  

A. Ms. Bradley and Mr. McLaughlin described a project opportunity being 
developed by NextEra called Rock Valley Solar-Storage. NextEra requires a 
minimum take of 25 MW solar and 25 MW storage, with a COD in late 2028. 
PWRPA is currently discussing the project with the public agencies that it 
partners with on the Whitney Point Solar project to evaluate whether a 25 MW 
allocation is doable.  

B. Ms. Bradley gave an update on the Lower Tule River Success Hydro project 
which is late due to administrative delays by Southern California Edison. Mr. 
McLaughlin provided updates on the Luna Valley Solar (Westlands Water 
District) and the BCID LLC Solar (onsite at BCID). 

8 SC GC 

 

Closed Session 

A. Conference with legal counsel – Existing litigation: PG&E WDT3 Rate Case, 
FERC ER22-619, ER20-2878 consolidated. Pursuant to Gov’t Code section 
54956.9(d)(1). 
After returning to open session, Mr. McLaughlin reported that no action was 
taken during closed session.  

9 Chair Board Matters – There were no other announcements. 

 Chair Adjournment – The meeting was adjourned at 11:01 A.M. The next Regular 
Meeting is Wednesday, December 6, 2023, at 9:00 A.M.   

 



Power	and	Water	Resources	Pooling	Authority	

 

 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES NOVEMBER 1, 2023 

 
 
1 Chair  

Directors and Alternates Present: Dave Nixon (AEWSD), David Weisenberger 
(BCID), Dave Ansolabehere (CWD), Louis Jarvis (GCID), Manny Amorelli (JID), 
John Michael Domondon (LTRID), Lance Boyd (PPID), Gary Enos (PPID), Jordan 
Navarott (RD 108), John Brosnan (SCVWD), Dale Roberts (SCWA), Bobby Pierce 
(WSID), Kiti Campbell (WWD), Sal Segura (Z7). 
 
Also participating: Bruce McLaughlin (GM), Cori Bradley (OM).  
 
David Weisenberger, serving in his capacity as Chairman, opened the meeting at 
10:01 A.M.  
 

2 Chair Matters Subsequent to Posting the Agenda - None 

3 Chair Public Comment – There was no public comment.  

4 SC GC 

 

Closed Session 

A. Conference with legal counsel – Existing litigation: PG&E WDT3 Rate Case, 
FERC ER22-619, ER20-2878 consolidated. Pursuant to Gov’t Code section 
54956.9(d)(1).  

B. Conference with legal counsel – Pending litigation: Pursuant to Gov’t Code 
section 54956.9(d)(4). 
After returning to open session, Mr. McLaughlin reported that by unanimous 
vote of all Directors present, the Board approved the terms of a settlement 
agreement with PG&E in docket FERC ER22-619.  

No action was taken on the matter involving pending litigation.   

5 Chair Board Matters – There were no other announcements. 

 Chair Adjournment – The meeting was adjourned at 11:25 A.M. The next Regular 
Meeting is Wednesday, December 6, 2023, at 9:00 A.M.   

 



 
 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	5.A	
	
	

	
1. Treasurer’s	Report.	

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 













Transaction 
Number Beneficiary Name Credit Amount Value Date

197439 CAISO Market Clearing $125,708.11 10/2/2023

197853 Cameron-Daniel, P.C. $38,442.70 10/4/2023

197854 Holland & Knight $4,283.68 10/4/2023

198334 CAISO Market Clearing $85,762.63 10/10/2023

198346 ACES Power Marketing $25,000.00 10/10/2023

198347 Pacific Gas and Electric $101,885.50 10/10/2023

198348 Pacific Gas and Electric $1,805.51 10/10/2023

199223 Western Area Power Administration $48,464.34 10/16/2023

199224 CAISO Market Clearing $69,404.87 10/16/2023

199225 Garlock Energy, LLC $2,656.10 10/16/2023

199934 Slate 1 (Canadian Solar) $489,803.28 10/20/2023

200151 CAISO Market Clearing $976,637.90 10/23/2023

200487 Western Area Power Administration $1,495,497.47 10/25/2023

201172 CAISO Market Clearing $84,773.99 10/30/2023

201173 Astoria 2 Operating $156,085.95 10/30/2023

201174 Whitney Point Solar LLC $102,379.14 10/30/2023

201175 Trimark Associates, Inc. $48,281.15 10/30/2023

Total 3,856,872.32

POWER & WATER RESOURCES POOLING AUTHORITY

WIRE TRANSFERS

October 1 - 31, 2023



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	5.B	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-16	2023	Annual	Budget	and	Pro	Forma	

Rate	Schedule.		
	

	

	

	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-16 

 

 

APPROVING AND ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET 
AND ASSOCIATED PRO-FORMA RATE SCHEDULE FOR 2024 

 
WHEREAS, the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“Pooling Authority”) provides 

retail electric services under the Aggregation Services Agreement (“ASA”) to electric accounts 
designated by Project Participants (“Customers”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 4.4 of the Joint Powers Agreement requires the General Manager to 

develop a budget for the Pooling Authority and submit a draft budget to each of the Customers prior 
to the commencement of the fiscal year; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 3.6.4 of the Joint Powers Agreement authorizes the Pooling Authority 

Board of Directors (“Board”) to review, modify if necessary, and approve the draft budget prepared 
and submitted by the General Manager; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 5.1 of the ASA provides that the Board shall be the local regulatory 

authority with respect to matters related to the ASA including ratesetting; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 8.1 of the ASA requires the Pooling Authority to recover costs through 

rates and charges applicable to its retail electricity Customers; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 8.2 of the ASA directs the Board, based on principles in Exhibit E to the 
ASA and in connection with the Board’s review of the Pooling Authority’s resource plan and Budget, 
to establish annual pro forma retail electricity rates for services provided under the ASA. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pooling Authority Board hereby: 
 

1. Approves the 2024 Budget for the Pooling Authority attached hereto as Exhibit A, subject to 
approval by General Counsel as to form. 

 
2. Approves the annual pro forma rate schedule reflecting “Average Conditions,” effective as of 

January 1, 2024, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, subject to approval by General 
Counsel as to form. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the PWRPA Board of Directors this 6th day of December 2023, 

by the following vote on roll call: 
 

AYES 
Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Byron Bethany ID, Cawelo Water District, 
Glenn-Colusa ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, Princeton/Provident ID, RD 108, 
Santa Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County Water Agency, West Stanislaus ID, 
Westlands Water District, Zone 7 Water Agency (100.0% Voting Shares)  

NOES None 

ABSENT  

 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________ 
David Weisenberger  Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman Secretary  



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-12-16 
 
 

2024 Budget 



Exhibit B to Resolution 23-12-16 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	5.C	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-17	RBI	Professional	Services	Agreement.		

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-17 

 

 

 
EXTENSION OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH ROBERTSON-BRYAN, INC 
 
The Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“PWRPA”) provides electric 

service to its customers, known as “Project Participants,” under terms and conditions specified 
in the Aggregation Services Agreement (“ASA”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Robertson-Bryan, Inc. (RBI), is currently providing operations 
management services to PWRPA under a one-year fixed-fee professional services agreement 
expiring on January 15, 2024; and 
 

WHEREAS, RBI has worked together with PWRPA’s General Manager to evaluate the 
2024 scope of work for operations management functions; and 

 
WHEREAS, RBI has proposed a three-year extension of the existing professional 

services agreement.  
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pooling Authority Board of Directors 

hereby: 
 

1. Authorizes the Chair, or his designee, to execute and implement the contract with RBI 
for operations management services according to the rates, terms, and conditions 
substantially similar to those set forth in Exhibit A, subject to the prior approval of 
General Counsel as to the form of the final, executable version. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the PWRPA Board of Directors this 6th day of December 
2023, by the following vote on roll call: 

 
 

AYES 
Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Byron Bethany ID, Cawelo WD, 
Glenn-Colusa ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, Princeton/Provident ID, RD 
108, Santa Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County WA, West Stanislaus ID, 
Westlands WD, Zone 7 WA   

NOES  

ABSENT  

 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________ 
David Weisenberger  Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman Secretary 
 
  



 

 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
to 

RESOLUTION 23-12-17 



Page 1 of 6 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Robertson-Bryan, Inc. (Firm), and the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority, a California joint 
powers authority (Authority), enter into this Professional Services Agreement (Agreement), effective 
January 16, 2024. The Firm and the Authority are collectively referred to herein as the Parties. The 
Parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Term and Termination 

It is the desire of both the Firm and the Authority to enter into a three-year Agreement. Therefore, this 
Agreement shall become effective January 16, 2024 and shall continue in effect until January 15, 2027, 
unless terminated prior to that date by either Party. This Agreement may be terminated under the 
following conditions: 

1. By written mutual agreement of both Parties. Termination under this provision may be 
immediate. 

2. Termination for convenience: Upon six (6) months written notice by either Party to the 
other of intent to terminate. In the event that the Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) is 
terminated pursuant to JPA section 6.1.1, the six-month notice period shall 
automatically begin no later than the date that all parties to the JPA mutually agree to 
terminate the JPA. 

3. Termination for cause: If the Firm fails to perform in accordance with the Scope of 
Services listed below, or if the Firm fails to comply with any other provisions of the 
Agreement and fails to correct such noncompliance within thirty (30) days written 
notice thereof, the Authority may terminate this Agreement for cause. Termination shall 
be affected by serving a notice of termination on the Firm setting forth the manner in 
which the Firm is in default. The Firm will only be paid for services performed in 
accordance with the manner of performance set forth in this Agreement. 

4. If this Agreement is terminated by either Party, the Authority agrees to pay to the Firm 
all fees and expenses associated with services provided to the effective date of 
termination.  
 

2. General Scope of Services, Staff Roles, and Availability 

a. General Scope of Services (see Exhibit A)  
i. Any work deemed by the Operations Manager, General Manager, and/or Authority 

Board of Directors (Board) to be out of scope with regards to Exhibit A will be presented 
by the Firm to the General Manager and/or Board for approval on a time and material 
basis according to the Firm Fee Schedule presented in Exhibit B. 

ii. Any services requested of Firm staff that would result in exceeding the annual 
availability of staff for the fixed fee for services defined in Exhibit A shall be billed to the 
Authority on a time and material basis, according to the Firm Fee Schedule provided in 
Exhibit B.   

iii. Additional services requested by individual Districts (for projects/topics primarily 
addressed through PWRPA) that are not covered by the fixed fee will be billed on a time 



Page 2 of 6 

and material basis, according to the Firm Fee Schedule in Exhibit B, at the discretion of 
the Firm and Districts. 

 
b. Staff & Accessibility 

i. Professional services by Cori Bradley:  

Role: Operations Manager duties 

ii. Firm Staff:  

Role: Staff shall support both the Operations Manager and the General Manager in 
an efficient and effective manner. Staff roles can change over time, but key staff 
positions available are staff analyst, database analyst, and power portfolio analyst. 

Accessibility: Staff are available up to a collective total of 4,100 hours for their 
respective roles under the fixed fee. Staff are available during standard business 
hours and on-call as needed. 

 
3. Independent Contractor Relationship 

The Parties intend that an independent contractor relationship will be created by this Agreement. The 
Firm shall remain, at all times as to the Authority, a wholly independent contractor with only such 
obligations as are required under this Agreement. The implementation of services will lie solely with the 
discretion of the Firm. No employee of the Firm shall be deemed to be an employee of the Authority. 
The Firm will be solely and entirely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, 
servants, subcontractors or representatives during the performance of this Agreement. 
 
4. Fixed Fee for services, reimbursable expenses 

Fixed Fee: The annual contract rate for 2024 services provided under this Agreement shall be Six 
hundred thirty-six thousand six hundred thirty six ($636,636.00) dollars, which shall be paid in monthly 
installments of fifty three thousand fifty three dollars ($53,053.00). This fixed fee shall be compensation 
for the scope of services outlined in Exhibit A and staff availability defined above. This fixed fee shall 
have an annual escalation factor of three percent (3%) for the term of this Agreement to address year-
over-year cost-of-living adjustments. In addition, the Firm’s hourly billing rates (Exhibit B) used for out-
of-scope work performed on a time and materials basis shall be increased by three percent (3%) 
annually.  
 
In the event that this Agreement requires modification due to a changed scope-of-work or other factors 
at any time in the future, the scope of services and associated fixed fee shall be reviewed and revised by 
the Firm and submitted to the Authority Board for review and approval. As such, an equitable 
Agreement for both parties can be maintained over time in the face of changing factors and services 
requested from the Firm to meet the Authority’s needs. 
 
The Firm shall receive reimbursement beyond that of the fixed fee for all direct expenses incurred while 
providing professional services to the Authority, including but not limited to, plane fare, mileage at the 
current IRS approved business rate per mile, lodging for overnight stays as authorized in advance by the 



Page 3 of 6 

Authority, document delivery charges, copying charges, filing fees and any other costs required to 
complete the scope of services. The Authority will consider and possibly reimburse certain educational 
activities that directly benefit the Authority. 
 
MCG Energy Solutions Software as Service:  The Firm is contracted with a software provider under the 
guidance and agreement by the Authority that replaced the prior SAMBA system. The Firm will pass 
through the MCG invoiced costs and will manage the subscription level as requested by the Authority.  
 
5. General Right of Inspection and Supervision 
 
Even though the Firm is an independent contractor with the Authority to control and direct the 
performance and details of the work authorized under this Agreement, the work must meet the 
approval of the Authority and shall be subject to the Authority's inspection.  
 
6. Notices 
 
All notices, invoices, reports or other communication required herein shall be properly given if delivered 
in person, or sent by first-class mail, facsimile, email, or overnight delivery to the following addresses. 
 

Authority:  Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
 Attention: Chairman 
 Banta-Carbona Irrigation District 
 3514 West Lehman Road 
 Tracy, CA 95304 
 bcid@inreach.com 

 
Firm:  Robertson-Bryan, Inc. 
 Attention: Michael Bryan 
 3100 Zinfandel Drive, Suite 300 
 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 
 bryan@robertson-bryan.com 

Telephone: (916) 261-4043 

7. Key Terms and Conditions 

1. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 
State of California, exclusive of conflict of laws provisions. 

2. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties concerning the subject 
matter hereof. 

3. This Agreement may not be modified or amended without the express written agreement of the 
Parties. 

4. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, including through facsimile 
signatures, and upon execution by the Parties, each executed counterpart shall have the same force 
and effect as an original document and as if the Firm and the Client had signed the same document. 
Any signature page of this Agreement may be detached from any counterpart of this Agreement 

mailto:bcid@inreach.com


Page 4 of 6 

without impairing the legal effect of any signatures thereon, and may be attached to another 
counterpart of this Agreement identical in form but having attached to it one or more signature 
pages. 

5. This Agreement may be scanned and stored in electronic format. Neither Party shall object to the 
admissibility of an electronic version of this Agreement on the basis that such was not originated or 
maintained in documentary form. 

6. All intellectual property rights in the services, including but not limited to, any deliverable furnished 
to the Authority as part of the services or any modifications, customizations and interfaces 
developed with respect to a deliverable, in whole or in part, provided to the Authority by the Firm 
under this Agreement shall be solely the property of the Authority. The Firm hereby assigns all right, 
title and interest in and to and exclusive ownership of such services and deliverables to the 
Authority and the Firm shall take all actions necessary to transfer exclusive ownership of the same 
to the Authority. The Authority and the Firm agree that any product created, conceived, and/or 
prepared by the Firm in the performance of the services contained in this Agreement shall in all 
respects be considered a “work made for hire” within the meaning of the federal copyright and 
patent laws and that no other right in this Work shall inhere in the Firm, or in the Firm’s 
representatives, heirs, or assigns. The Work shall be owned by the Authority and the Authority may, 
at its option and expense, seek copyright or patent registration for the Work. As owner of the 
copyright or patent, the Authority shall have all rights attendant to that ownership, including, but 
not limited to, rights of reproduction, preparation of derivative works, distribution, and display. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Firm and the Authority may establish different terms for a 
specified deliverable pursuant to a separate written agreement. 

7. Indemnity: If any claim or action is brought against the Firm, or any personnel of the Firm, and such 
claim arises from the Authority's negligence, errors or omissions, or willful misconduct, the 
Authority agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Firm, its owners, officers, and employees from 
injuries, damages, claims, demands, costs, expenses, losses or liabilities, in law or in equity for all 
such claims and damages. The Firm agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Authority, its 
Directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers from injuries, damages, claims, demands, 
costs, expenses, losses or liabilities, in law or in equity arising from the negligent acts, errors or 
omissions of the Firm or its employees, subcontractors, and any other person, firm, or corporation 
furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or supplies in connection with the performance of 
this Agreement. The Authority will control its own defense and at the time of claim resolution, in the 
event of any claim within the purview of these indemnification provisions, Firm will provide 
reimbursement for those defense costs caused by any negligence or willful misconduct by or 
attributable to the Firm. 

8. Arbitration: Any dispute arising out of or related to the engagement of Firm or its personnel by the 
Authority for any purpose, including, but not limited to, (i) any dispute relating to Firm's fees, 
expenses or costs, or (ii) any dispute relating to any allegedly wrongful or negligent act or omission 
by Firm or the Authority or any of their personnel, or (iii) any dispute relating to any duty allegedly 
owed by Firm or its personnel to the Authority or by the Authority or its personnel to Firm, shall be 



Page 5 of 6 

subject to binding arbitration at San Francisco, California, pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration 
Rules of the American Arbitration Association in effect at the time of the arbitration. The Authority 
understands that by agreeing to arbitrate the disputes specified in this arbitration agreement it is 
waiving its right to have a trial by a jury or court regarding such disputes. This arbitration agreement 
shall only apply to disputes concerning fees, costs, or both if (i) the Authority does not elect to 
pursue the arbitration procedures provided by the California Business and Professions Code (Bus. & 
Prof. Code, § 6200 et seq.) regarding such disputes, or (ii) if either Firm or the Authority rejects the 
award in any such arbitration. All employees and officers of Firm and the Authority are intended 
beneficiaries of this arbitration agreement and shall be bound by and have the benefit of it. The 
arbitration shall not deprive any party of prejudgment remedies. All arbitration proceedings, or any 
action to enforce such proceedings, shall be conducted in as confidential a manner as permitted by 
law. The arbitrator or arbitrators shall be authorized to award equitable remedies including specific 
performance. In any such arbitration, a written statement of decision prepared in compliance with 
the California Code of Civil Procedure shall be rendered, and any arbitration decision must be based 
on correct application of law and findings of fact based upon a preponderance of evidence 
admissible under the Evidence Code of the State of California. Failure of the arbitrator to comply 
with the requirements of this agreement shall be grounds to modify or vacate an award. The 
arbitration proceeding shall be reported by a certified court reporter, and all evidence shall be 
marked and retained as part of the record of the proceedings by the court reporter, or the 
arbitrator, until a final judgment on the arbitrator's award is paid or confirmed or the award is 
modified or vacated. By agreeing to arbitration both parties waive their right to trial by Jury. 

9. The Firm shall obtain at its own expense, all insurance required by the attached insurance 
requirements (Exhibit C). Such insurance shall be maintained in full force and in effect at all times 
during the performance of work under this Agreement. 

8. Signatures 

In witness whereof, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 
representatives. 
 
Authority       Firm 
 
___________________________    ____________________________ 
David Weisenberger      Michael Bryan 
Title: Chairman       Title: President 
Date: __________________     Date: ___________________  

 

 
 

 



Page B-1 

Exhibit A: General Scope of Work 

The general scope of services for the fixed fee agreement is defined below. 

1. Support the General Management Services: 
a. Advise Board in coordination with the General Manager on all matters relevant 

to the electric service provided by the Authority.  Develop and implement 
strategic policies as authorized by the General Manager and the Board. 

b. Identify and pursue Authority customer-focused programs and initiatives. 
c. Design, build and maintains a cross-functional, team-based system to implement 

Board directives and attract/retain the highest caliber staff. 
d. Plan, organize, coordinate, and direct the work of Firms and others to achieve 

efficient operations and meet project goals. 
e. Plan, organize, coordinate, and participate in Board and committee meetings. 
f. Meet with member Agencies, as necessary, to represent the Authority’s 

activities. 
g. Conducts a variety of special studies and surveys to determine the effectiveness 

of Authority projects. 
h. Represent the Board’s policies and projects with other government agencies. 
i. Evaluate and make recommendations on improvements to existing Authority 

operations, projects, and services. 
2. Operations Services 

a. Develop and implement Authority’s annual and Long-term Resource Plan (ASA 
Article 6). 

b. Prepare and disseminate monthly reports covering operations and activities of 
the Authority. 

c. Develop plans and operations for Authority facilities and resources. 
d. Prepare the annual budget and Pro Forma rates, making recommendations to 

the Board on revenue and expenditure levels. (JPA 4.4) 
e. Manage MDMA and all metering issues, including new Points of Delivery 

requests. 
f. Manage Scheduling Coordinator functions, including load and resource portfolio 

strategy protocols. 
g. Manage staff, algorithms, and all data in software systems. 
h. Coordinate with Treasurer on all aspects of vendor invoicing, audits, and District 

allocation, monthly and annual reconciliation processes. This includes settlement 
validation of all load and resource transactions.  

i. Coordinate and manage regulatory reporting needs of the Authority. 
j. Manage staff and Districts on load scheduling and resource position analysis. 



Page B-2 

EXHIBIT B: FIRM HOURLY FEE SCHEDULE 

2024 FEE SCHEDULE FOR ALL FIRM SERVICES NOT COVERED BY THE FIXED FEE 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  RATE/HOUR 
 

¨ Managing Partner $296.00 
 

¨ Principal Engineer/Scientist $271.00 
 

¨ Chief Engineer/Scientist $262.00 
 

¨ Resource Director $245.00 
 

¨ Senior Analyst $228.00 
 

¨ Project Engineer I $214.00 
 

¨ Senior Portfolio Manager $197.00 
 

¨ ISO Specialist $180.00 
 

¨ Project Analyst II $164.00 
 

¨ Project Database Analyst II $161.00  
 

¨ Project Analyst I $151.00 
 

¨ Project Database Analyst I $150.00 
 

¨ Staff Analyst II $139.00 
 

¨ Staff Analyst I $133.00 
 

¨ Administrative Assistant  $104.00 
 

Rates shall have an annual escalation factor of three percent (3%) for the term of this 
Agreement to address year-over-year cost-of-living adjustments.   

Ten percent (10%) of subcontractor fees will be added to cover administrative costs.  
Hourly rates increased by twenty-five percent (25%) for depositions, trials, and hearings. 

RBI issues invoices on a monthly basis for all work performed.  Payment is due upon 
receipt of the invoice.



Page C-1 

EXHIBIT C: INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Professional Services 
Additional Insured Endorsement 

 
Liability Insurance – The Firm shall provide and maintain at all times during the performance of this 
Agreement, the following commercial general liability, professional liability, and automobile liability 
insurance: 
 
Coverage - Coverage shall be at least as broad as the following: 
 

1. Coverage for Professional Liability appropriate to the Firm’s profession covering Firm’s 
wrongful acts, negligent acts, and errors and omissions. The retroactive date, if any, is to be 
no later than the effective date of this Agreement. 
 

2. Commercial General Liability Coverage  
 

3.  Automobile Liability Coverage  
 

Limits – The Firm shall maintain no less than the following: 
 

1. Professional Liability – One million dollars ($1,000,000) per claim and occurrence. 
 

2. General Liability – One million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence, and two million dollars 
($2,000,000.00) aggregate, for bodily injury and property damage. 

 
3.  Automobile Liability (hired and non-owned) – One million dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily 

injury and property damage each accident limit. 
 

Required Provisions – The general liability policy is to contain the following provisions: 
 

1. The Authority, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers are to be given 
additional insured status (via ISO endorsement CG 2010, CG 2033, or insurer’s equivalent for 
general liability coverage) as respects: liability arising out of activities by or on behalf of the 
Firm; and premises owned, occupied or used by the Firm.  
 

2. For any claims related to this project, the Firm’s insurance shall be primary insurance as 
respects the Authority, its directors, officers, employees, or authorized volunteers. Any 
insurance, self-insurance, or other coverage maintained by the Authority, its directors, 
officers, employees, or authorized volunteers shall not contribute to it. 
 

3. In the event any change is made in the scope of coverage or retroactive date of professional 
liability coverage required under this Agreement, Firm shall notify the Authority prior to any 
changes. 

 
 



Page C-2 

Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance – The Firm and all sub-contractors shall cover 
or insure under the applicable laws relating to workers’ compensation insurance, all of their employees 
employed directly by them or through sub-contractors in carrying out the work contemplated under this 
Agreement, all in accordance with the “Workers Compensation and Insurance Act,” Division IV of the 
Labor Code of the State of California and any Acts amendatory thereof. The Firm shall provide 
employer’s liability insurance in the amount of at least $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and 
disease. 
 
Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions – Any deductible or self-insured retention must be declared to 
and approved by the Authority; whereas, said approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
Acceptability of Insurers – Insurance is to be placed with insurers having a current A.M. Best rating of 
no less than A-:VII or equivalent or as otherwise approved by the Authority. 
 
Evidence of Insurance – Prior to execution of the Agreement, the Firm shall file with the Authority a 
certificate of insurance (Accord Form 25-S or equivalent) signed by the insurer’s representative. Such 
evidence shall include an original copy of the additional insured endorsement signed by the insurer’s 
representative. Such evidence shall also include confirmation that the coverage includes or has been 
modified to include Required Provisions 1 through 3. The Firm shall upon demand of the Authority, 
deliver to the Authority such policy or policies of insurance and the receipts for payment of premiums 
thereon. 
 
Sub-contractors – In the event that the Firm employs other independent contractors (sub-contractors), 
as part of the services covered under this Agreement, it shall be the Firm’s responsibility to require and 
confirm that each sub-contractor meets the minimum insurance requirements specified above. 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	5.D	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-18	ACES	Professional	Services	Agreement.	

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-18 

 
AMENDMENT 1 TO THE  

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH ACES, LLC 
 

The Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“PWRPA”) provides electric 
service to its customers, known as “Project Participants,” under terms and conditions specified 
in the Aggregation Services Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Alliance for Cooperative Energy Services Power Marketing LLC 

(“ACES”), is currently providing services to PWRPA under a three-year fixed-fee professional 
services agreement (“PSA”) expiring on December 31, 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, PSA Section 1.2 provides that the PSA term shall continue for additional 

one (1) year terms unless either Party provides written notice of termination to the other Party 
at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of the then current term; and  

 
WHEREAS, no later than June 2023, the General Manager began negotiations with 

ACES regarding a revised scope of needed services for 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, ACES presented an amendment having a revised scope of work to 

include: (a) expanded portfolio management for existing and new generation resources; and 
(b) an increased annual rate reflecting additional labor hours and inflation adjustments since 
2021. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pooling Authority Board of Directors 

hereby: 
 

1. Authorizes the Chair, or his designee, to execute and implement Amendment 1 to the 
professional services agreement with ACES according to the rates, terms, and 
conditions substantially similar to those set forth in Exhibit A. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the PWRPA Board of Directors this 6th day of December 
2023, by the following vote on roll call: 

 
 

 

AYES 
Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Cawelo Water District, Glenn-Colusa 
ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, Princeton/Provident ID, RD 108, Santa 
Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County Water Agency, The West Side ID, West 
Stanislaus ID, Westlands Water District, Zone 7 WA (100.0% Voting Shares) 

NOES  

ABSENT  

 
 
 

David Weisenberger Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman Secretary 



 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
to 

RESOLUTION 23-12-18 



Amendment to the Exhibit A 
“Amendment No. 1” 

 
This Amendment No. 1 (“Amendment”) entered into this 6th day of December 2023 (the “Effective 
Date”) is by and between Alliance for Cooperative Energy Services Power Marketing LLC 
(“ACES”) and the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“PWRPA” or “Customer”), 
each individually a “Party” or collectively the “Parties.”  This Amendment amends that certain 
Exhibit A of the Service Agreement dated January 1, 2021 (“Agreement”) as amended, between 
the Parties and further amends that agreement as follows: 
 
I. Services:  Exhibit A of the Agreement dated January 1, 2021 is hereby amended as follows: 
   

A. Section II. Portfolio Strategy and Management, B. Short-term Portfolio Management, 1) 
Portfolio Management (Intraday to 4 months), Management of Portfolio Assets, including: 
This section is hereby deleted and replaced after the heading in its entirety with the 
following: 

• WAPA (Western) Base Resource and Displacement 
• Lodi Energy Center 
• Sonoma County Warm Springs Hydro 
• Shell Call/Put Option 
• Slate Battery Storage Project 
• Lower Tule River Hydro Project 
• Load Scheduling in CAISO 
• Future Assets based upon changes to Customer’s portfolio (such changes may 

require revisiting the scope of services and will be determined on a case-by-
case basis) 

 
B. Section V. Customer Annual Service Fees is amended to add to the end of the Annual 

Customer Service Fees paragraph the following:    
 
Beginning January 1, 2024 through and including December 31, 2024, Customer shall pay 
ACES annual fees in the amount of Three Hundred Ninety Five Thousand Dollars 
($395,000), which shall be due and payable in equal monthly installments of Thirty Two 
Thousand Nine Hundred Sixteen Dollars and Sixty Seven Cents ($32,916.67) (“Annual 
Customer Service Fees”).  Each monthly installment shall be due and payable in advance 
on the first business day of the month.  Thereafter, Annual Customer Service Fees shall 
increase by four percent (4%) annually, beginning January 1, 2025. 
 

II. Term:  The Term of this Amendment shall commence upon execution and shall run 
concurrent with the Term of the Agreement.  

 
III. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement and Exhibit A, as amended, shall remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be executed and 
delivered by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first written above. 



 
ALLIANCE FOR COOPERATIVE  POWER AND WATER RESOURCES  
ENERGY SERVICES POWER                              POOLING AUTHORITY 
MARKETING LLC 
 
 
 
By:        By:        
 
Name:  Michael Thomas Steffes   Name:        
 
Title:     President & CEO   Title:            



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	6.A	
	
	

	
1. General	Manager’s	Report.	

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



This table reflects the proposed 2024 schedule for Regular Board Mee:ngs and loca:ons, typical agenda items, op:onal training 
sessions and strategy task team mee:ngs.  The Board is requested to provide input on preferred dates, 4mes, loca4ons and 
par4cularly the proposal for an onsite Strategy Session in 3Q 2024.    
  

 

January 2024 February 2024 March 2024 April 2024 
3 – Informa+onal Packet 
 
 

7 – Board Mee+ng (at BCID) 
• 2024 opera+onal forecasts 
• RPS planning 
• PWRPA Op(onal Training a1er 

mee(ng 

6 – Informa+onal Packet 
 
 

3 - Board Mee+ng (at BCID) 
• 2024 JPA Exhibit B & C 
• 2024 Rate review 
• Consider 2025 Base Resource Contract 
• PWRPA Op(onal Training a1er 

mee(ng 

8 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  6 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  

22 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  25 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  

 TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team 

May 2024 June 2024 July 2024 August 2024 
1 – Informa+onal Packet 
 

5 - Board Mee+ng (at Cawelo?) 
• 2023 Annual Audit 
• 2024 Rate review 
• 2023 CEC Power Source Disclosure 
• Biennial Conflict of Interest update 

TBD – Strategy Development Session (at SCWA?) 
• Long-term power porWolio management 

(resources and procurement) 
• Organiza+onal models 
• Succession models (directors, vendors & staff) 

7 - Board Mee+ng (at BCID) 
• 2023 Reconcilia+on 
• 2024 Rate review 
• 2024 Wildfire Plan update 
• Review dra] 2025 PG&E WDT rates 

1 – PWRPA Op(onal Training    

27 – PWRPA Op(onal Training 24 - PWRPA Op(onal Training 29 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  

TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team  TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team 

September 2024 October 2024 November 2024 December 2024 
4 – Informa+onal Packet 
 
 

2 - Board Mee+ng (at BCID) 
• 2023 CEC Power Content Label 
• Scheduling Coordinator Agreement 
• Review dra] 2026 PG&E WDT rates 

6 – Informa+onal Packet 
 
 
 

9 - Board Mee+ng (Monday at BCID) 
• 2025 Budget 
• 2025 Mee+ng Dates 
• 2025 Officer appointment 

4 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  6 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  

23 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  25 – PWRPA Op(onal Training  

TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team TBD – PWRPA Strategy Task Team  

 



Mailing Address 
P.O. Box 1018 
Oakland, CA 94604-1018  
Phone: (628) 219-4171  
E-mail: Ali.Ward@pge.com

Alexandra J. Ward 

December 1, 2023 

Ms. Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
888 First Street, N.E.  
Washington, DC 20426 

Re:  Informational Filing 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company Wholesale Distribution Tariff,  
FERC Electric Tariff Volume No. 4, Annual Update for Rate Year 2024 
under the Formula Rate in Docket No. ER20-2878-000, et al. 

Dear Ms. Bose: 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”) submits to the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (“FERC” or “Commission”) for informational purposes, its Annual Update for Rate 
Year 2024 (“RY2024”) revising its Wholesale Distribution Revenue Requirement (“DRR”), 
Distribution Rates, Cost of Ownership rates, and Customer Service Charges, as those terms are 
defined in PG&E’s Wholesale Distribution Tariff (“WDT”), FERC Electric Tariff Volume No. 
4, effective January 1, 2024.  PG&E submits this filing pursuant to Section 4.6 of the Wholesale 
Distribution Formula Rate (“Formula Rate”) Protocols using the Formula Rate Model1  as 
revised pursuant to the Second Offer of Partial Settlement and Stipulation (“Second Partial 
Settlement”) filed in Docket No. ER20-2878-0132 for PG&E’s third WDT rate case (“WDT3”), 
Docket No. ER20-2878-000, et al. 3   

1 The Protocols are included in Appendix I, Wholesale Distribution Formula Rate, Attachment 1 of PG&E’s WDT 
(“Protocols”).  The Model, a spreadsheet containing individual worksheets (“Schedules”), is included in Appendix I, 
Wholesale Distribution Formula Rate, Attachment 2 of PG&E’s WDT (“Model”).  Together, the Protocols and the 
Model comprise the Formula Rate. 

2 The Second Partial Settlement, which included revisions to the Protocols and Model, was filed March 31, 2022 and 
approved by the Commission on June 2, 2022. See Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 179 FERC ¶ 61,167 (2022). 

3 Docket No. ER20-2878-000 contains the WDT3 filing.  PG&E submitted a total of eight (8) filings to amend and 
align the terms of WDT3 with the service agreements (“SA”) of its six (6) wholesale load distribution customers – 
City and County of San Francisco (“CCSF”), Port of Oakland (“Port”), Power and Water Resources Pooling 
Authority (“PWRPA”), Shelter Cove Resort Improvement District No. 1 (“Shelter Cove”), Western Area Power 
Administration (“WAPA”), and the Westside Power Authority (“Westside”) – in sub-Docket Nos. ER20-2878-001 
through -008.  



Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary 
December 1, 2023 
Page 2 

This Annual Update filing revises the Wholesale DRR, from which each of PG&E’s wholesale 
load distribution customer’s (“Customer”) allocated revenue requirement is calculated, from the 
currently effective amount of $6,838 million to $6,894 million.  The total DRR allocated to 
Customers is being revised from $59.7 million to $50.7 million including the allocated wholesale 
primary credit.4 This is a decrease of the allocated Wholesale DRR of $9 million. 

Consistent with the WDT Protocols, this filing shall not modify the Formula Rate or subject the 
Formula Rate to modification and shall not constitute a rate change filing under Section 205 of 
the Federal Power Act.5  This filing is an informational filing.  PG&E requests that the 
Commission issue a notice of this filing and establish a comment date. 

I. BACKGROUND

On September 15, 2020, PG&E filed proposed revisions to certain non-rate terms and conditions 
and revisions to rate terms including moving to a Formula Rate in WDT3 and those revisions 
became effective on April 15, 2021. 

On April 6, 2021, in Docket No. ER20-2878-010, PG&E submitted an Offer of Partial 
Settlement (“First Partial Settlement”) resolving certain Model and Protocol issues that was 
approved by the Commission on July 15, 2021.6 On December 1, 2021, PG&E filed its first 
Annual Update for Rate Year 2022 using the Formula Rate as revised pursuant to the First Partial 
Settlement. On March 31, 2022, in Docket No. ER20-2878-013, PG&E submitted to FERC 
another Offer of Partial Settlement (“Second Partial Settlement”) resolving all rate related issues 
in the WDT3 proceeding, as well as some non-rate related issues. The Second Partial Settlement 
was approved by the Commission on June 2, 2022.7   

Pursuant to the terms of the Second Partial Settlement, the RY2024 Annual Update uses the 
Formula Rate as revised by the Second Partial Settlement. 

On October 3, 2022, PG&E submitted a Petition for Declaratory Order (“Petition”) requesting 
approval to establish a revenue sharing mechanism for secondary products and services in its 
WDT in Docket No. EL23-2-000.  The Commission granted the Petition on December 15, 2022.8 
On January 26, 2023, in Docket No. ER23-942-000, P&GE added Schedule 26-NPandS to the 
Model and revised Schedules 20, 1, and 2 in the Model to reflect the addition of the NP&S 

4 Sum of Lines 103, 103a and 110 on Schedule 4-WholesaleRates of WDT3 Model. 
5 Protocols § 4.6.2. 
6 Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 176 FERC ¶ 61,012 (2021). 

7 Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 179 FERC ¶ 61,167 (2022). 

8 Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 181 FERC ¶ 61,203 (2022). 



Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary 
December 1, 2023 
Page 3 

revenue sharing mechanism.  These revisions were accepted and made effective March 28, 20239 
and are included in the Model for the RY2024 Annual Update. 

II. WDT FORMULA RATE

A. Overview

PG&E’s Model provides a DRR for RY2024, which represents the distribution costs that PG&E 
incurred in the previous calendar year (“Prior Year” or “PY”), in this instance calendar year 2022 
(“PY2022”). The DRR is then used as the basis for allocation among Customers (“Allocated 
DRR”) to recover their respective shares of the DRR through distribution service rates.  The 
calculation of the Allocated DRR for primary load service is found on Line 103 of Schedule 4-
WholesaleRates of the Model and the calculation of the Allocated DRR for secondary load 
service is found on Line 110 of Schedule 4-WholesaleRates. These calculations are made 
pursuant to Section 12 of the Protocols.  

Pursuant to Section 5 of the Protocols, the Model also provides for an Annual True-up 
Adjustment (“ATA”) that compares PG&E’s costs in the Prior Year that were allocated to each 
Customer with wholesale distribution revenues collected from each Customer in the Prior Year. 
A summary of the Customer-specific ATAs in the RY2024 Annual Update can be found in 
Schedule 3-ATA, Lines 400 - 405.  

The Cost of Ownership (“CoO”) rates are calculated in Schedule 21-CoO using the RY2024 
Total Distribution Revenue Requirement found in Schedule 1-DRR, pursuant to Section 15 of 
the Protocols. 

The Customer Service Charges are calculated in Schedule 23-CustServCharge using a revised 
average annual hourly billing rate and as applicable, revised monthly hours for each Customer, 
pursuant to Section 13 of the Protocols. 

B. Annual Update Process

Consistent with Section 4.1 of the WDT Protocols, on July 1, 2023, PG&E provided to the 
WDT3 parties and Commission Trial Staff (“Interested Parties”) a draft Annual Update for Rate 
Year 2024.  PG&E also hosted a technical conference on August 1, 2023 and responded to 
Information Requests and follow-up questions afterwards.  

On November 1, 2023, PG&E provided to the parties an updated version of the draft Annual 
Update Model which incorporated changes to address errors identified by the parties and PG&E.  
PG&E also provided subsequent updated versions after November 1.   

9 See Delegated Letter Order dated March 21, 2023, eLibrary Accession No. 20230321-3065. 



Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary 
December 1, 2023 
Page 4 

C. DRR

PG&E’s total wholesale DRR used to calculate Distribution Service Rates for RY2024 is $6,894 
million, an increase of $56 million or 8.2% over the current DRR of $6,838 million. This total 
DRR is the sum of the primary DRR, $4,163 million, and secondary DRR, $2,731 million. For 
RY2024, the allocated DRR for primary service to be recovered from wholesale customers 
through Distribution Rates is $43.8 million and the allocated DRR for secondary service to be 
recovered from wholesale customers through Distribution Rates is $7.9 million for a total 
allocation of $51.7 million.  

D. Annual True-up Adjustments

The total Annual True-up Adjustments for primary and secondary can be found on Schedule 3-
ATA, Lines 401 and 404, respectively, and are credits of $6.1 million for primary and $6.7 
million for secondary. 

E. Distribution Service Rates

The RY2024 wholesale distribution rates for PG&E’s Customers for can be found in Schedule 4-
WholesaleRates of the Model and are compared to RY2023 rates below: 

Customer & Service 
Agreement Number 

RY2023 
Primary 
Rates 

($/kW) 

RY2024 
Primary 
Rates 

($/kW) 

Customer & 
Service 
Agreement 
Number 

RY2023 
Secondary 

Rates 
($/kW) 

RY2024 
Secondary 

Rates 
($/kW) 

CCSF SA 275 $13.500 $8.303 CCSF SA 275 $26.134 $9.919 
PWRPA SA 56 $25.505 $12.803 WAPA SA 17 $30.003 $12.202 
Shelter Cove SA 382 $23.267 $15.353 
WAPA SA 17 $16.051 $11.032 
Westside SA 15 $25.905 $21.987 

F. Cost of Ownership Rates

The Cost of Ownership rates for RY2024 can be found on Schedule 21-CoO and are compared to 
RY2023 rates below: 

Monthly CoO Rate RY2023 RY2024 
Customer Financed 0.89% 0.80% 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	6.B	
	
	

	
1. Operations	Manager’s	Report.	

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
December 2023 Update 
Operations Manager Report 

 

 1 

Possible Action  
n/a 

Operations Staff Overview 

1. December planned activity 
a) Slate: invoicing for DDE 
b) LTRID Hydro: final step: remote meter test 
c) 2024 Budget and rates implementation 
d) Metering documentation 

2. November recap  
a) Slate: DDE resolution 
b) LTRID Hydro onboarding 
c) 2024 Budget 
d) Various coordination w/ Solar developers on Districts request 

Operations Report: 

1. Pre-Reconciliation 
a) Actual data for January – partial Nov, Nov - December estimates. 
b) BR estimates as of Nov 1 makes the rate $26/MWH ($54 in the Dry budget).  
c) Updates include: REC costs, change in reserve, and rate change effective Sept 1.  

 
Table 1: 2023 Pre-Reconciliation 

 

 
 

2. October operations 
a) Energy is 37% under budget for the month, 39% for the year 
b) Load averaged 31 MW, 22MW lower than last month 
c) Average schedule deviation of 3 MW for an estimated cost of 10,300.  

 

Revenue and Expense: January - December 2023
Revenue Balance
Power

 Invoice               
 Power &

 Ops Costs
P3

Direct 
Consulting

Change in Reserve 
Estimate

Prior Period
Over/(Under) 

Funded
Total Costs

Composite Rate
 (¢/ kWh)

Arvin-Edison 15,603,029$         14,012,268$         399,350$         -$                            213,028$              (22,731)$            1,001,114$           14,601,915$        12.38$                 
Banta-Carbona 1,691,303$           1,482,405$           42,249$           -$                            (31,997)$               (1,396)$              200,042$              1,491,260$          10.60$                 
Byron-Bethany 462,688$              383,142$              10,920$           -$                            (884)$                    (268)$                 69,779$                392,910$             13.97$                 
Cawelo 2,771,368$           2,486,721$           70,872$           -$                            31,416$                3,589$               178,770$              2,592,598$          13.90$                 
Glenn-Colusa 1,344,530$           1,240,364$           35,350$           -$                            (1,178)$                 (560)$                 70,555$                1,273,976$          11.46$                 
James 251,645$              252,810$              7,205$             -$                            (8,515)$                 (1,081)$              1,226$                  250,419$             30.22$                 
Lower Tule 1,530,734$           1,353,927$           38,587$           -$                            11,199$                (2,019)$              129,041$              1,401,693$          14.20$                 
Princeton 601,914$              524,451$              14,947$           -$                            1,560$                  60$                    60,897$                541,018$             12.27$                 
RD108 490,358$              425,364$              12,123$           21$                         (9,163)$                 (32)$                   62,046$                428,313$             18.77$                 
Santa Clara 3,685,561$           3,313,876$           94,445$           3,469$                    13,809$                (3,885)$              263,846$              3,421,715$          16.20$                 
Sonoma 4,618,861$           4,177,138$           119,048$         75$                         (1,884)$                 (8,755)$              333,239$              4,285,623$          12.68$                 
West Stan 1,511,201$           1,251,511$           35,668$           -$                            (10,654)$               (2,360)$              237,036$              1,274,165$          11.30$                 
Westlands 9,412,384$           8,528,673$           243,067$         1,007$                    (225,157)$             (50,992)$            915,787$              8,496,598$          25.05$                 
Zone 7 1,301,123$           1,200,025$           34,201$           -$                            18,421$                (1,794)$              50,271$                1,250,853$          23.50$                 
PWRPA 45,276,701$        40,632,677$         1,158,031$     4,571$                    0$                         (92,224)$            3,573,646$           41,703,055$       14.51$                 

Participant
SummaryExpenses



Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
December 2023 Update 
Operations Manager Report 

 

 2 

3. Pricing 
a) Average monthly prices:  

 
Table 2: Average monthly cost and ISO revenue rates 

 

 

Generator Reports 
 

1. Astoria Solar 
a) Generation 
o 1,705 MWh, 23% capacity. Low output due to negative pricing. 
o Net credit $31,100 or $18 /MWh  

 
2. Whitney Point Solar  

a) Generation 
o 2,285 MWh, 28% capacity factor  
o Net credit $66,200, or $28 /MWh  

 
3. Slate Solar + Battery 

a) Generation 
o 3,322 MWh, 25% capacity factor 
o Net value $477,300, or $100 /MWh 

b) Staff work 
o ACES & MCG to setup data flows: working through data translations 
o Deemed Energy issues finally resolved. 

§ Original 2022 invoice was $150,000. Staff due diligence got that down 
to $30,000. 

 
4. Lodi Energy Center 

o Operations:  
§ 3,322 MWh, or 56% capacity factor due to economics 
§ Ran 826 of 31 days due to economics 

o Net value of $48,500 or $15/MWh 
 
 

Cost Revenue
BR 26.41$         (64.08)$           

Displacement 26.41$         (69.21)$           
WWD BOR -$              (68.64)$           

Whitney Point 58.75$         (23.02)$           
Astoria 63.00$         (13.97)$           

Slate 26.81$         (44.03)$           
*Lodi 68.80$         (77.25)$           

Market



Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
December 2023 Update 
Operations Manager Report 

 

 3 

 
 
 
Power Planning & Regulatory 
 

1. Power Net Short 
a) WAPA’s current forecast is Nov 1, 2023. 

2. BR output:  
a. Covered 66% of load for Oct and 38% of November  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
3. Resource Adequacy 

a. 2023: we had one CAISO procurement and PWRPA share was $35,000 
b. 2024: same contingency plan, procurement at this time is out of the market. We 

will look to cure shortages in the month ahead process. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1-
O

ct

2-
O

ct

3-
O

ct

4-
O

ct

5-
O

ct

6-
O

ct

7-
O

ct

8-
O

ct

9-
O

ct

10
-O

ct

11
-O

ct

12
-O

ct

13
-O

ct

14
-O

ct

15
-O

ct

16
-O

ct

17
-O

ct

18
-O

ct

19
-O

ct

20
-O

ct

21
-O

ct

22
-O

ct

23
-O

ct

24
-O

ct

25
-O

ct

26
-O

ct

27
-O

ct

28
-O

ct

29
-O

ct

30
-O

ct

31
-O

ct

M
W

h

October Load and BR
BR Allocation… Prior Year BR Allocation Load Schedule DLF-Adjusted Demand

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1-
N

ov

2-
N

ov

3-
N

ov

4-
N

ov

5-
N

ov

6-
N

ov

7-
N

ov

8-
N

ov

9-
N

ov

10
-N

ov

11
-N

ov

12
-N

ov

13
-N

ov

14
-N

ov

15
-N

ov

16
-N

ov

17
-N

ov

18
-N

ov

19
-N

ov

20
-N

ov

21
-N

ov

22
-N

ov

23
-N

ov

24
-N

ov

25
-N

ov

26
-N

ov

27
-N

ov

28
-N

ov

29
-N

ov

30
-N

ov

M
W

h

November Load and BR
BR Allocation… Prior Year BR Allocation Load Schedule DLF-Adjusted Demand



Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
December 2023 Update 
Operations Manager Report 

 

 4 

c. Regulations: staff tracking changes CEC is making to enforce penalties and cost 
allocations for entities that lean on CAISO for backstop procurement. 
 

4. Renewable Energy Credits 
a. CP3 (2021-2024) 

i. PWRPA’s long Districts have agreed to transfer some of their excess to 
short Districts at a price of $36.50/REC. The market has since risen to 
$70/REC. 

ii. Unless conditions really change (loads go up, BR output decreases by 
40%, etc), PWRPA has enough PCC1 RECs within the portfolio. 

iii. 20,000 PCC3 RECs have been procured and staff will finalize another 
procurement in Q1 2024 or balance.  

b. PWRPA staff continues to work with Districts on their on-site project 
developments; WSID, BCID, BBID, RD108, SCWA. 
 

 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	6.C	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-19	Appointment	of	Officers	for	2024.	

	
	

	

	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-19 

 
 

OFFICERS FOR THE 2024 FISCAL YEAR 
 

WHEREAS, the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“Pooling Authority”) 
was created by a Joint Powers Agreement (“JPA”) to, among other things, acquire, construct, 
maintain, operate, and finance water and energy related projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, JPA Section 3.11.1 requires the Board of Directors (“Board”) to select, 

from among themselves, a Chair and a Vice-Chair; and 
 
WHEREAS, JPA Section 3.11.2 requires the Board to appoint a Secretary; and 
 
WHEREAS, JPA Section 3.11.3 requires the Board to appoint a qualified person to 

serve as Treasurer and Auditor; and 
 
WHEREAS, JPA Section 3.11.6 provides that the aforementioned officers shall serve 

a one-year term beginning on the first day of each fiscal year. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board hereby: 

 
1. Selects, appoints and designates the following persons as officers for 2024. 

a. Chair –  

b. Vice Chair –  
c. Secretary –  
d. Treasurer and Auditor -  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Pooling Authority Board of Directors this 6th day of 
December 2023, by the following vote on roll call: 

 
 

AYES 
Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Byron Bethany ID, Cawelo Water 
District, Glenn-Colusa ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, 
Princeton/Provident ID, Santa Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County Water 
Agency, West Stanislaus ID, Westlands Water District, Zone 7 WA 

NOES  

ABSENT  

 
 
 
_________________________________         _________________________________ 
David Weisenberger         Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman          Secretary 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	7.A	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-20	Cawelo	WD	REC	Agreement.		

	
	

	
	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-20 

 
 

RENEWABLE ENERGY CERTIFICATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
 
The Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“PWRPA”) provides electric 

service to its customers, known as “Project Participants,” under terms and conditions specified 
in the Aggregation Services Agreement (“ASA”); and 

WHEREAS, Cawelo Water District (“CWD”) is a Project Participant and owns 
Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) from a solar generation facility that is, or will be, a CEC-
certified eligible renewable energy resource; and 

WHEREAS, in Resolution 20-12-26, PWRPA approved a model agreement for the 
purchase of “RECs” from CEC-certified eligible renewable energy resources; and 

WHEREAS, PWRPA desires to enter into a REC purchase agreement with CWD.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pooling Authority Board of Directors 

hereby: 
 

1. Approves the model Renewable Energy Credits Agreement, attached hereto as 
Attachment A. 

2. Authorizes the Chair, or his designee, to execute and implement a Renewable Energy 
Certificate Purchase Agreement with Cawelo Water District according to the rates, 
terms, and conditions substantially similar to those set forth in Attachment A, subject 
to the prior approval of General Counsel as to the form of the final, executable version. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the PWRPA Board of Directors this 6th day of December 
2023, by the following vote on roll call: 

 
 

AYES 

Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Byron Bethany ID, Cawelo Water 
District, Glenn-Colusa ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, Princeton / 
Provident ID, RD 108, Santa Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County Water 
Agency, West Stanislaus ID, Westlands Water District, Zone 7 WA (100.0% 
Voting Shares)  

NOES None 

ABSENT  

 
 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________ 
David Weisenberger  Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman Secretary 
 
  



Resolution 23-12-20 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
to 

RESOLUTION 23-12-20 



 

- 1 - 

RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDIT PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN CAWELO WATER DISTRICT AND THE POWER & WATER 

RESOURCES POOLING AUTHORITY 
 

 
 This Renewable Energy Credit (“REC”) Purchase and Sale Agreement (“Agreement”) is 
entered into by and between the Cawelo Water District, a California public agency (“Seller”), and 
the Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority, a California joint powers agency (“Purchaser” 
or “PWRPA”). Each of Seller and Purchaser shall be referred to herein as a “Party” and together, 
as the “Parties.” 

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of the purchase and sale of RECs 
from the Designated Facility (as defined hereunder).  

 
RECITALS 

WHEREAS, PWRPA is a local publicly owned electric utility, as defined in California Public 
Utilities Code Section 224.3, and provides retail electric service to Project Participants pursuant 
to the Aggregation Services Agreement (“ASA”) and policies, rates, terms and conditions adopted 
by PWRPA’s Board of Directors (“Board”), which administers the ASA and serves as the local 
regulatory authority for PWRPA.  

WHEREAS, Project Participants are users of electric power and water resources for 
purposes such as providing irrigation and municipal and industrial water, and in order to serve 
their Participants utilize such electrical and water resources through, among other things, 
pumping water, water transfers, storing water, and distributing and exchanging electrical power. 
The Participants utilize electric power to convey water and recognize that water delivery and 
electric power consumption are directly related and that exchange of water and electric power 
resources is a viable means of managing both electric power consumption and water supplies. 

WHEREAS, Cawelo Water District (“CWD”) is a PWRPA Project Participant. 
WHEREAS, PWRPA must procure specified percentages of its retail sales from eligible 

renewable electricity resources according to the California Renewable Portfolio Standard (“RPS”).  
WHEREAS, PWRPA adopted Resolution 13-11-13 Renewable Energy Resources 

Procurement Plan in conformance with the Enforcement Procedures for the Renewables Portfolio 
Standard for Local Publicly Owned Electric Utilities adopted by the California Energy Commission 
(“CEC”).  

WHEREAS, PWRPA adopted Resolution 14-04-04 Renewable Portfolio Standard Cost of 
Compliance Rule in conformance with Appendix 2 of Exhibit E to the ASA which authorizes 
allocating PWRPA's RPS compliance obligation costs to all Project Participants.  

WHEREAS, CWD has an assigned responsibility for its share of PWRPA's RPS 
compliance obligation costs using the rules adopted in Resolution 14-04-04. 

WHEREAS, PWRPA and Seller desire to enter into this Agreement in order to specify 
such terms and conditions under which: (a) Seller has a power purchase agreement for the full 
output of electricity and Environmental Attributes from the Designated Facility; (b) all 
Environmental Attributes associated with the Designated Facility shall be distributed per this 
Agreement; and (c) the RPS compliance value from such RECs credited to PWRPA shall be 
attributed exclusively to CWD’s assigned responsibility under the rules adopted by Resolution 14-
04-04 for its direct benefit or for others as CWD may determine in its sole discretion. 



 

- 2 - 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements and covenants hereinafter set 
forth, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties hereby covenant and agree as follows: 

 

1. Definitions; Rules of Interpretation.   

The following terms shall have the following meanings: 

a. “Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which 
the Federal Reserve Bank is authorized or required to be closed. 

b. “CEC” means California’s State Energy Resources Conservation and 
Development Commission, also known as the California Energy Commission. 

c. “CEC Certification” means that the CEC has certified that the Designated Facility 
is an eligible renewable energy resource in accordance with Public Utilities Code 
Section 399.12(e) and the guidelines adopted by the CEC, as amended from time 
to time, and any successor statute. 

d. “Designated Facility” means the Scooby Solar project which is a ground-mounted 
3,477 kW DC solar generation facility located on 12 acres in Kern County, CA, 
Lattitude 35.5880°, Longitude -119.1936°, APN: 073-050-19-7. 

e. “Environmental Attributes” means RECs, and any and all other current or future 
credits, benefits, emissions reductions, offsets or allowances, howsoever entitled, 
named, registered, created, measured, allocated or validated that are (a) at any 
time recognized or deemed of value (or both) by any Purchaser, applicable law, or 
any voluntary or mandatory program of any Governmental Authority or other 
Person, and (b) attributable to (i) generation by the Designated Facility of Energy 
during the Delivery Term, and (ii) the emissions or other environmental 
characteristics of such generation or its displacement of conventional or other 
types of Energy generation.   

 Environmental Attributes include any of the aforementioned arising out of 
legislation or regulation pertaining to oxides of nitrogen, sulfur, carbon, or any other 
greenhouse gas or chemical compound, particulate matter, soot, or mercury, or 
implementing the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (the 
“UNFCCC”), the Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC, California’s greenhouse gas 
legislation (including California Assembly Bill 32 (Global Warming Solutions Act of 
2006) and any regulations implemented pursuant to that act, including without 
limitation any compliance instruments accepted under the California Cap on 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Market-Based Compliance Mechanisms 
regulations of the California Air Resources Board or any successor regulations 
thereto), or any similar international, federal, state or local program or crediting 
“early action” with a view thereto, or laws or regulations involving or administered 
by the CAMD, and all Environmental Attribute Reporting Rights, including all 
evidences (if any) thereof such as renewable Energy certificates of any kind.  
Environmental Attributes for purposes of this definition are separate from the 
System Energy. Environmental Attributes do not include Tax Credits.  Seller and, 
to the extent required, Purchaser, shall file all federal and state of California tax 
returns in a manner consistent with Section 4.  



 

- 3 - 

f. “Environmental Attribute Reporting Rights” means all rights to report ownership of 
the Environmental Attributes to any Person, including under Section 1605(b) of the 
Energy Policy Act of 1992 (Title 42, United States Code § 13385) or any other 
current or future international, federal, state or local law, regulation or bill, or 
otherwise. 

g. “Governmental Authority” means any national, state, or local government (whether 
domestic or foreign), any political subdivision thereof or any other governmental, 
quasi-governmental, judicial, public or statutory instrumentality, authority, body, 
agency, bureau or entity (including the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or 
the California Public Utilities Commission), or any arbitrator with authority to bind 
a Party at law. 

h. “Product” means the California RPS Program-eligible RECs and Environmental 
Attributes associated with generation from the Designated Facility during the 
Delivery Term, as evidenced by WREGIS Certificates. (note: currently researching 
CA Book and Claim)  

i. “REC” or “Renewable Energy Credit” means a certificate of proof associated with 
the generation of electricity from an eligible renewable energy resource, which 
certificate is issued through the accounting system established by the CEC 
pursuant to the RPS Law, evidencing that one (1) MWh of Energy was generated 
and delivered from such eligible renewable energy resource.  Such certificate is a 
tradable environmental commodity (also known as a “green tag”) for which the 
owner of the REC can prove that it has purchased renewable energy. 

j. “RPS Program” means the California Renewable Energy Resources Act, including 
the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program, Article 16 of Chapter 2.3, 
Division 1 of the Public Utilities Code, California Public Resources Code § 25740 
through 25751, any related regulations or guidebooks promulgated by the CEC or, 
as applicable, the California Public Utilities Commission, as these may be 
amended from time to time. 

k. “RPS Compliant” means, when used with respect to the Designated Facility, that 
all electricity products generated by such facility at all times shall, together with all 
of the associated Environmental Attributes, qualify as a “portfolio content category 
3” eligible renewable resources under the RPS Program and meet the 
requirements of Public Utilities Code Section 399.16(b)(1).   

l. “Tax Benefits” means all federal, state and local tax deductions, tax credits, tax 
grants, and other tax benefits available to taxpayers, including grants under 
Section 1603 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Public Law 
111-5, as well as any replacements or modifications to such tax deductions, 
credits, grants or benefits. 

m. “Tax Credits” means any and all (i) investment tax credits, (ii) production tax credits 
and (iii) similar tax credits or grants under federal, state or local law relating to the 
construction, ownership or production of Energy from the System. 

n. “WREGIS” means the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information 
System. 



 

- 4 - 

 

2. Purchase and Sale of Product; Scheduling; Interconnection; Obligation to Deliver.   

a. Purchase and Sale of Product. Purchaser  shall purchase from Seller, and Seller 
shall sell to Purchaser the Product generated by or associated with the Designated 
Facility during the Delivery Term. 

b. Sale Only to Purchaser. In no event shall Seller sell, or be deemed to have sold, 
Product from the System other than to Purchaser during the Delivery Term. 

3. Term and Termination. 

a. Effective Date.  The Effective Date shall be the date on which both Parties have 
executed the Agreement.  

b. Delivery Term.  The Parties intend this Agreement to be a long-term contract 
consistent with Public Utilities Code Section 399.13(b). The initial term (“Initial 
Term”) of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue for 
ten (10) years, unless terminated earlier as provided for in this Agreement. Either 
Party may give the other Party written notice of its desire to extend this Agreement 
on the terms and conditions set forth herein, or such other terms and conditions as 
may be requested, for the number and length of additional periods as determined 
by the Parties (each an “Additional Term”). The Delivery Term comprises the Initial 
Term and any Additional Term.  

c. Termination.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement: (1) after Default by the 
other Party pursuant to this Agreement; or (2) at any time by giving the other Party 
twenty (20) Business Days written notice. 

4. Billing and Payment. 

a. Contract Amount and Purchase Price.   Seller shall sell and Purchaser shall 
purchase the Product at the Purchase Price of $0.05 per one (1) REC. 

b. Title.   Title to the Product shall pass from Seller to Purchaser upon generation of 
the associated energy from the Designated Facility, and the Product shall be held 
in trust by Seller for Purchaser until the transfer of the RECs to Purchaser’s 
WREGIS Account. 

c. Delivery.  No less often than annually, Seller shall cause delivery of the Product 
in accordance with the applicable rules and procedures relating to WREGIS and 
the California RPS Program. 

d. Billing Statement.   As soon as practicable after the Product has been delivered 
to Purchaser, as evidenced by a WREGIS Certificate delivered to Purchaser’s 
WREGIS Account, Seller shall deliver to Purchaser an invoice for that portion 
delivered.   

e. Payment Terms. Subject to its contest rights set forth in Section 4(f), Purchaser 
shall pay the full amount of each invoice on or before the 45th day following receipt 



 

- 5 - 

thereof (the “Due Date”). All payments made by Purchaser under this Agreement 
shall be by electronic funds transfer or by check payable to Cawelo Water District 
or its designee (unless otherwise directed in writing by Seller) at the address for 
notices set forth in Section 15. If the Due Date is not a Business Day, payment will 
be due the next following Business Day. Late payments shall accrue interest at a 
per annum rate equal to the lower of 6%, or the maximum rate allowed by law. 

f. Disputes and Adjustments of Invoices.   Purchaser may, in good faith, dispute 
the correctness of any invoice, or any adjustment to an invoice, rendered under 
this Agreement or adjust any invoice for any arithmetic or computational error 
within sixty (60) Business Days of the date the invoice, or adjustment to an invoice, 
was rendered.  In the event an invoice or portion thereof, or any other claim or 
adjustment arising hereunder, is disputed, payment of the undisputed portion of 
the invoice shall be required to be made when due, with notice of the objection 
given to Seller.  Any invoice dispute or invoice adjustment shall be in writing and 
shall state the basis for the dispute or adjustment.  Payment of the disputed amount 
shall not be required until the dispute is resolved.  Upon resolution of the dispute, 
any required payment shall be made within two (2) Business Days of such 
resolution along with interest accrued at the Interest Rate from and including the 
due date to but excluding the date paid. 

g. Taxes.   Each Party shall pay any taxes lawfully levied upon it by a Governmental 
Authority. 

h. Administrative Costs.  Purchaser is responsible for all costs associated with this 
Agreement required for establishing and administering any WREGIS account.   

5. Environmental Attributes and Tax Credits/Benefits. 

Purchaser is the owner of all Environmental Attributes and Seller is entitled to the benefit 
of all Tax Credits and Tax Benefits. Purchaser’s purchase of the Product under this 
Agreement does not include the right to Tax Credits, Tax Benefits, or any other attributes 
of ownership and operation of the Designated Facility, all of which shall be retained by 
Seller, except for all Environmental Attributes as may otherwise be expressly provided in 
this Agreement.  Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser in obtaining, securing and 
transferring all Environmental Attributes, including Purchaser’s registration of the 
Designated Facility and its generation with WREGIS. Seller shall not be obligated to incur 
any out–of–pocket costs or expenses in connection with such actions unless reimbursed 
by Purchaser. 

6. Conditions to Obligations. 

a. Conditions Precedent.    Purchaser shall have no obligation whatsoever to 
purchase the Product from the Designated Facility under this Agreement until 
Seller completes to Purchaser’s reasonable satisfaction each of the following 
conditions: 

i. Seller has received the requisite CEC Certification and verification for the 
Designated Facility; and 



 

- 6 - 

ii. Seller shall have completed all applicable WREGIS registration 
requirements, including the completion and submittal of all applicable 
registration forms and other appropriate documentation required to effect 
Designated Facility registration with WREGIS and to enable REC 
transfers related to the Facility within the WREGIS system or have 
completed any other similar requirements applicable to Seller to enable 
Purchaser to fulfill its RPS requirements. 

b. Purchaser shall provide, at its sole expense, the reasonable and necessary 
assistance for Seller to satisfy the above conditions in this Section 6.a. 

c. Failure to Satisfy Conditions Precedent.   If Seller fails to complete the 
conditions precedent set forth in Section 6.a within six (6) months of the Effective 
Date, then either Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, and 
neither Party shall have any further liability hereunder. 

7. Change in Law. 

a. “Change in Law” means (i) the enactment, adoption, promulgation, modification 
or repeal after the Effective Date of any applicable law or regulation; (ii) the 
imposition of any material conditions on the issuance or renewal of any applicable 
permit after the Effective Date of this Agreement (notwithstanding the general 
requirements contained in any applicable Permit at the time of application or issue 
to comply with future laws, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations or similar 
legislation), or (iii) a change in any utility rate schedule or tariff approved by any 
Governmental Authority which in the case of any of (i), (ii) or (iii), establishes 
requirements affecting owning, supplying, constructing, installing, operating or 
maintaining the Designated Facility, or other performance of the Seller’s 
obligations hereunder and which has a material adverse effect on the cost to Seller 
of performing such obligations; provided, that a change in federal, state, county or 
any other tax law after the Effective Date of this Agreement shall not be a Change 
in Law pursuant to this Agreement. 

b. If any Change in Law occurs that has a material adverse effect on either Party’s 
ability to perform its obligations described in this Agreement, then the Parties shall, 
within thirty (30) days following receipt by either Party of notice of such Change in 
Law, meet and attempt in good faith to negotiate amendments to this Agreement 
as are reasonably necessary to preserve the economic value of this Agreement to 
both Parties.  If the Parties are unable to agree upon such amendments within 
such thirty (30) day period, or such other period of time the Parties deem necessary 
and appropriate, then either Party has the right to terminate this Agreement  

8. Continuing Representations and Warranties.   In addition to the foregoing, Seller, and, 
if applicable, its successor(s), represents and warrants that: 

a. The Designated Facility is RPS Compliant;  

b. Seller has the sole and exclusive legal right to sell and deliver the Product, and 
upon the delivery of the Product to Purchaser, all right, title and interest in and to 
the Product shall be conveyed to Purchaser free and clear of any liens or other 
encumbrances or title defects; and 



 

- 7 - 

c. the RECs associated with the Product will, upon delivery of the Product to 
Purchaser, vest in Purchaser, and Purchaser will (i) have the exclusive rights to 
make all claims as to such RECs and (ii) have the right to report with WREGIS 
Purchaser’s exclusive ownership of such RECs all for benefit of CWD. 

9. Other Representations and Warranties.  Each Party represents and warrants as of the 
Effective Date: 

a. it is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its 
organization or incorporation; it has the legal capacity, authority and power to 
execute this Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement; it 
has taken all necessary action to authorize such execution and performance; the 
execution and performance of this Agreement are within its powers and do not 
violate or conflict with its governing documents, any law applicable to it, any 
provision of its constitutional documents, any order or judgment of any court or 
other agency of government applicable to it, or any contract to which it is a party;  

b. its obligations under this Agreement constitute its legal, valid and binding 
obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms (subject to 
applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws 
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable 
principles of general application regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a 
proceeding in equity or at law); 

c. no Event of Default (as defined in Article 12) with respect to it, or event which 
with notice and/or lapse of time would constitute such an Event of Default, has 
occurred and is continuing and no such event or circumstance would occur 
because of its entering into or performing its obligations under this Agreement; 

d. there are no proceedings by or before any court or other agency of government 
now pending or, to the knowledge of such Party, threatened, that if adversely 
determined could have a material adverse effect on such Party’s ability to 
perform the Party’s obligations under this Agreement; 

e. it is not relying upon any representations of the other Party other than those 
expressly set forth in this Agreement, and it has entered into this Agreement with 
a full understanding of, and the ability to assume, the material terms and risks of 
this Agreement, and has made its decisions (including regarding the suitability 
thereof) based upon its own judgment and any advice from such advisors as it 
has deemed necessary and not in reliance upon any view expressed by the other 
Party. 

10. Records.  Seller shall maintain or cause to be maintained adequate records of the 
Product, including but not necessarily limited to records to assist Purchaser in meeting 
any reporting or registration requirements associated with the Product, including 
metering records.  Seller shall provide such records upon reasonable notice from 
Purchaser.  Seller hereby consents to Purchaser’s use of any such information for the 
purpose of documenting Purchaser’s interest in the Product.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, each Party agrees to provide copies of its records to the 
extent reasonably necessary for WREGIS to perform its functions and to verify the 



 

- 8 - 

accuracy of any fact, statement, charge or computation made in documents submitted to 
WREGIS. 

11. Additional Assurances.   Each Party, upon the reasonable request of the other Party, 
will perform any further acts and execute and deliver documents that may be necessary 
to carry out the intent and purpose hereof. 

12. Events of Default. 

A Party is in default (“Default”) hereunder if that Party (the “Defaulting Party”) does any 
of the following (each an “Event of Default”): 

a. fails to make, when due, any payment required under this Agreement, if such 
failure is not remedied within three (3) Business Days after written notice of such 
failure is given to the Defaulting Party;  

b. fails to cure any representation or warranty made by the Defaulting Party in this 
Agreement that has been shown to have been false or misleading in any material 
respect when made, if such failure is not cured within five (5) Business Days of 
written notice of such failure from the other Party;  

c. fails to perform any material covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement 
(other than its obligations to make any payment or obligations which are 
otherwise specifically covered as a separate Event of Default), to the extent not 
excused by Force Majeure, if such failure is not cured within five (5) Business 
Days after written notice of such failure is given to the Defaulting Party, the 
Defaulting Party: 

i. makes an assignment or any general arrangement for the benefit of 
creditors; 

ii. files a petition or otherwise commences, authorizes or acquiesces in the 
commencement of a proceeding or cause under any bankruptcy or similar 
law for the protection of creditors;  

iii. has a petition in the commencement of a proceeding or cause under any 
bankruptcy or similar law for the protection of creditors filed against it 
involuntarily and such proceeding remains undismissed for thirty (30) 
days; or 

iv. otherwise becomes bankrupt or insolvent (however evidenced). 

 
13. Remedies. 

a. General.   If either Party is in Default as set forth in Article 12 at any time during 
the Term ("Affected Party"), the other Party ("Notifying Party") may (a) upon two 
(2) Business Days' prior written notice to the Affected Party terminate this 
Agreement, (b) withhold any payments due in respect of this Agreement to the 
extent of its damages, and (c) exercise such other remedies as may be available 
at law or in equity or as otherwise provided in this Agreement, including an action 



 

- 9 - 

for damages (except as limited below); provided, however, upon the occurrence 
of any Default listed in Section 12(c) (bankruptcy) as it may apply to any Party, 
this Agreement shall automatically terminate, without notice, immediately prior to 
such default. 

b. Breach of California RPS Program Warranty.   Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein, if the representation and warranty set forth in Section 8 is false 
such that the Product, in whole or in part, does not conform to the California RPS 
Program requirements and as a result Purchaser is unable to use the Product, in 
whole or in part, for compliance with the California RPS Program, then, Seller 
shall be in Default. Seller hereby acknowledges that, under Public Utilities Code 
Section 399.21(a)(6), Purchaser may retire the RECs in WREGIS within thirty-six 
(36) months of the initial date of generation of the associated energy, and 
therefore the representations and warranties with respect to conformance to the 
California RPS Program and the associated remedies for an Event of Default 
shall continue in effect during such period of time.   

14. Limitation of Liability.   

THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE EXPRESS REMEDIES AND MEASURES OF 
DAMAGES PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT SATISFY THE ESSENTIAL PURPOSE 
HEREOF.  FOR BREACH OF ANY PROVISION FOR WHICH AN EXPRESS 
MEASURE OF DAMAGE IS PROVIDED SUCH REMEDY OR MEASURE SHALL BE 
THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY THEREFOR.  IF NO REMEDY OR MEASURE 
OF DAMAGE IS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED, THE OBLIGOR’S LIABILITY SHALL BE 
LIMITED TO DIRECT ACTUAL DAMAGES ONLY AS THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE 
REMEDY.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT TO 
THE CONTRARY, IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE 
OTHER PARTY FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL 
OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, LOST PROFIT OR BUSINESS INTERRUPTION 
DAMAGES, WHETHER BY STATUTE, IN TORT, OR CONTRACT, UNDER ANY 
INDEMNITY PROVISION OR OTHERWISE.  TO THE EXTENT ANY DAMAGES 
REQUIRED TO BE PAID HEREUNDER ARE LIQUIDATED, THE PARTIES 
ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE DAMAGES ARE DIFFICULT OR IMPOSSIBLE TO 
DETERMINE, OTHERWISE OBTAINING AN ADEQUATE REMEDY IS 
INCONVENIENT AND THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CONSTITUTE A REASONABLE 
APPROXIMATION OF THE HARM OR LOSS, AND ARE NOT A PENALTY. 

15. Miscellaneous.  

a. Indemnification.   Each Party ("Indemnifying Party") shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the other Party, its shareholders, officers, directors, employees and 
agents, from and against any and all third party claims, costs, suits, liabilities, 
damages, losses, demands and expenses of every kind including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorney fees and disbursements, known or unknown, 
contingent or otherwise, resulting from or arising out of any event, circumstance, 
act or incident first occurring or existing during the period when control and title to 
the Product is vested in such Party, as further described in Section 4(b).  The 
Indemnified Party shall notify the other Party promptly of any claim under this 
Section 15(a).  The other Party shall afford the Indemnified Party the opportunity 
to defend or participate in the defense of the claim.  The other Party shall make 



 

- 10 - 

no settlement of an indemnified claim specifically naming or directly affecting the 
Indemnified Party without the Indemnified Party’s prior written approval. 

b. Force Majeure.   Neither Party shall be considered to be in default in the 
performance of any obligations under this Agreement when a failure of 
performance shall be due to any Force Majeure.  The term “Force Majeure” shall 
mean an event that prevents a Party from performing its obligations under this 
Agreement, which is not within the Party's reasonable control and which by 
exercise of due diligence, such Party is unable to avoid, cause to be avoided or 
overcome.  Such causes may include, without limitation, the following and other 
causes of similar nature: flood, earthquake, tornado, storm, fire, explosion, public 
emergency, civil disobedience, labor dispute, labor or material shortage, 
sabotage, restraint by court order or public authority (whether valid or invalid), 
and action or non-action by, or failure to obtain the necessary authorizations or 
approvals from any government agency or authority.  Force Majeure may include 
the failure or disruption in deliveries of RECs and Green Attributes by WREGIS 
that is not the fault of the Party asserting the Force Majeure.  No Party shall, 
however, be relieved of liability for failure of performance if such nonperformance 
is due to its own negligence or to removable or remediable causes which it fails 
to remove or remedy within a reasonable time period.  Force Majeure may not be 
based on (a) an inability to pay, (b) Seller’s ability to sell the RECs to another 
entity at a greater price than the Purchase Price or (c) Purchaser’s inability to 
economically use or resell the RECs (provided such inability does not arise from 
Seller’s breach of the warranties and representations set forth in Article 4 of this 
Agreement).  Either Party rendered unable to fulfill any of its obligations under 
this Agreement by reason of Force Majeure shall give prompt written notice of 
such fact to the other Party, and shall continue to exercise due diligence to 
remove or remedy such inability with all reasonable dispatch. 

c. Time is of the Essence.   Time is of the essence of each and every obligation 
set forth in this Agreement. 

d. Headings.   The Parties have inserted the headings used in this Agreement for 
convenience only and each heading shall not be construed to limit, add to or 
otherwise affect the interpretation of the provision in which it appears. 

e. Governing Law.   This Agreement and the rights and duties of the Parties 
hereunder shall be governed by and construed, enforced and performed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of California, without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law. 

f. Assignment.   Neither Party shall assign or transfer this Agreement or any of its 
rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 
other Party, which consent may be not be unreasonably withheld. 

g. Waiver.   No delay or omission in the exercise of any power or remedy and no 
renewal or extension of any performance due under this Agreement shall impair 
any such power or remedy or waive any Default. 



 

- 11 - 

h. Unenforceability.  Should any portion of this Agreement be ruled unenforceable 
or invalid, such ruling shall not affect the enforceability or validity of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement. 

i. Joint Drafting.   This Agreement has been drafted and negotiated by both 
Parties and shall not be strictly construed against either Party. 

j. Dispute Resolution.  Any dispute arising from or relating to this Agreement shall 
be resolved by a procedure agreed to by the Parties. 

k. Notices.  Any written notice, direction, instruction, request or other 
communication required or permitted under this Agreement shall be deemed to 
have been duly given on the date of receipt, and shall be delivered to the Party to 
whom notice is to be given (i) personally, (ii) by electronic mail (receipt 
acknowledgment), (iii) by a recognized overnight delivery service or (iv) by first 
class registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid (with 
additional notice by regular mail), and addressed to the Party to whom notice is 
to be given at the address stated below its name below, or at the most recent 
address specified by written notice given to the other Party in the manner 
provided in this Section 15.  

 
TO SELLER:  

Cawelo Water District 
17207 Industrial farm Road 
Bakersfield, CA 93308 
Attn: David Ansolabehere 
Email: dansolabehere@cawelowd.org 
Tel:  (661) 393-6072 

 
 
TO PURCHASER:  

Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
3504 W. Lehman Road 
Tracy, CA 95304 
Attn: General Counsel 
Email: bcm@cameron-daniel.com 
Tel: (916) 531-5566 
 

With a copy to: 
Arvin-Edison Water Storage District 
P.O. Box 175  
Attn: David Nixon 
Email: dan@aewsd.org 
Tel: (661) 854-5573 

 
l. Further Assurances.  Each of the Parties hereto agree to provide such 

information, execute and deliver any instruments and documents and to take such 
other actions as may be necessary or reasonably requested by the other Party 
which are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement and which do not 
involve the assumptions of obligations other than those provided for in this 



 

- 12 - 

Agreement, to give full effect to this Agreement and to carry out the intent of this 
Agreement.   

m. Right of Waiver.  Each Party, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to waive, 
defer or reduce any of the requirements to which the other Party is subject under 
this Agreement at any time; provided, however that neither Party shall be deemed 
to have waived, deferred or reduced any such requirements unless such action is 
in writing and signed by the waiving Party.  No waiver will be implied by any usage 
of trade, course of dealing or course of performance. A Party’s exercise of any 
rights hereunder shall apply only to such requirements and on such occasions as 
such Party may specify and shall in no event relieve the other Party of any 
requirements or other obligations not so specified.  No failure of either Party to 
enforce any term of this Agreement will be deemed to be a waiver.  No exercise of 
any right or remedy under this Agreement by Purchaser or Seller shall constitute 
a waiver of any other right or remedy contained or provided by law.  Any delay or 
failure of a Party to exercise, or any partial exercise of, its rights and remedies 
under this Agreement shall not operate to limit or otherwise affect such rights or 
remedies.  Any waiver of performance under this Agreement shall be limited to the 
specific performance waived and shall not, unless otherwise expressly stated in 
writing, constitute a continuous waiver or a waiver of future performance. 

n. Non-Dedication of Facilities.  Nothing herein shall be construed as the dedication 
by either Party of its facilities or equipment to the public or any part thereof.  
Purchaser shall not knowingly take any action that would subject Seller, or Seller’s 
facilities or equipment, to the jurisdiction of any Governmental Authority as a public 
utility or similar entity.  Purchaser shall not assert in any proceeding before a court 
or regulatory body that Seller is a public utility by virtue of Seller’s performance 
under this Agreement.  If Seller is reasonably likely to become subject to regulation 
as a public utility, then the Parties shall use all reasonable efforts to restructure 
their relationship under this Agreement in a manner that preserves their relative 
economic interests while ensuring that Seller does not become subject to any such 
regulation.  If the Parties are unable to agree upon such restructuring, Seller shall 
have the right to terminate this Agreement.  

o. Estoppel.  Either Party hereto, without charge, at any time and from time to time, 
within five (5) Business Days after receipt of a written request by the other Party 
hereto, shall deliver a written instrument, duly executed, certifying to such 
requesting Party, or any other person specified by such requesting Party:  (i) that 
this Agreement is unmodified and in full force and effect, or if there has been any 
modification, that the same is in full force and effect as so modified, and identifying 
any such modification; (ii) whether or not to the knowledge of any such Party there 
are then existing any offsets or defenses in favor of such Party against 
enforcement of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement and, 
if so, specifying the same and also whether or not to the knowledge of such Party 
the other Party has observed and performed all of the terms, covenants and 
conditions on its part to be observed and performed, and if not, specifying the 
same; and (iii) such other information as may be reasonably requested by the 
requesting Party.   

p. Service Contract.  The Parties intend this Agreement to be a “service contract” 
within the meaning of Section 7701 (e)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 



 

- 13 - 

Special rules for contracts or arrangements involving solid waste disposal, energy, 
and clean water facilities. Purchaser will not take the position on any tax return or 
in any other filings suggesting that it is anything other than a purchase of the 
Product from the Designated Facility. 

q. No Partnership.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or 
represented as creating a partnership, trust, joint venture, fiduciary or any similar 
relationship between the Parties.  No Party is authorized to act on behalf of the 
other Party, and neither shall be considered the agent of the other. 

r. Full Agreement, Modification, Invalidity, Counterparts, Captions.  This 
Agreement, together with any Exhibits, completely and exclusively states the 
agreement of the Parties regarding its subject matter and supersedes all prior 
proposals, agreements, or other communications between the Parties, oral or 
written, regarding its subject matter.  This Agreement may be modified only by a 
writing signed by both Parties. If any provision of this Agreement is found 
unenforceable or invalid, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not render this 
Agreement unenforceable or invalid as a whole.  In such event, such provision 
shall be changed and interpreted so as to best accomplish the objectives of such 
unenforceable or invalid provision within the limits of applicable law.  This 
Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts and each 
counterpart shall be considered an original and together shall comprise the same 
Agreement.  The captions or headings in this Agreement are strictly for 
convenience and shall not be considered in interpreting this Agreement.   

s. Forward Contract.  The transaction contemplated under this Agreement 
constitutes a “forward contract” within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy 
Code, and the Parties further acknowledge and agree that each Party is a “forward 
contract merchant” within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code. 

 
SIGNATURES 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed 

by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective Date. 
 
“Purchaser”      
Power and Water Resources Pooling 
Authority, a California joint powers authority 
 
By: _______________________________ 
  
Name:  ____________________________  
 
Title:    ____________________________  
 
Date:  _____________________________   
  

   
 

“Seller”      
Cawelo Water District, a California public 
agency  
      
By: _______________________________  
 
Name:  ____________________________  
 
Title:    ____________________________   
  
Date: _____________________________ 
 

 



 
 
 

Power	&	Water	Resources	Pooling	
Authority	
	

Regular	Agenda	•	Item	7.B	
	
	

	
1. Resolution	23-12-21	West	Stanislaus	ID	PPA	and	Rate	

Agreement.	
	

	

	

	

				
					 

	
 

 
 
	
	
	

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-21 

 
WSID SOLAR POWER PROJECT 

 
WHEREAS, the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority (“PWRPA”) was created 

by a Joint Powers Agreement (“JPA”) to, among other things, study, promote, develop, conduct, 
finance, acquire, construct, and/or operate water and energy-related projects and programs; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, PWRPA is authorized to make and enter into contracts with entities in order 

to study, promote, develop, conduct, design, finance, acquire, construct, and operate water and 
energy-related projects and programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, PWRPA and its Project Participants have signed the Aggregation Services 

Agreement (“ASA”) under which the Pooling Authority provides aggregated electric services to 
electric accounts designated by the Project Participants; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 7.3 of the JPA and Section 4.6 of the ASA provide that PWRPA or 

some or all of the Project Participants may develop, install, own and operate certain electric 
generating facilities for the benefit of certain or all Project Participants; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 7.1 of the JPA and Section 4.6 of the ASA provide, among other 

things, that funding for, participation and withdrawal of participation in any Project undertaken 
by PWRPA, and the purchase and integration of electricity from these electric generating 
facilities, including any credit to be given to the host Project Participant or participating Project 
Participants, shall be governed by a separate Project Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article 5 of the ASA provides that the Board of Directors (“Board”) shall, 

among other things, review and approve contracts related to the provision of electric service 
under the ASA, review and approve a budget relating to the provision of electric services under 
the ASA, and allocate approved costs through rates and charges applicable to Project 
Participants; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 13-11-13, PWRPA adopted a Renewable Energy 

Resources Procurement Plan in compliance with the California Energy Commission’s 
Enforcement Procedures for the Renewables Portfolio Standard for Local Publicly Owned 
Electric Utilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section § 399.16(b)-(c), electricity products 

are classified as Portfolio Content Category 1 if they are: (a) associated with contracts or 
ownership agreements that are executed after June 1, 2010; (b) procured as bundled; and (c) 
are associated with an eligible renewable energy resource that has its first point of 
interconnection to a distribution system used to serve end users within a California Balancing 
Authority; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed solar PV system at West Stanislaus Irrigation District ("WSID") 

shall be interconnected directly to the PG&E distribution system using Rule 21 grid and 
designed to export energy to the grid controlled by the California Independent System Operator 
("CAISO"); and 

 
 

1 of 6 



Resolution 23-12-21 
 
 

WHEREAS, the WSID Solar Project will be constructed, owned and operated by White 
Pine Renewables and PWRPA will execute a power purchase agreement (”PPA”) for the 
WSID Solar Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, as required by the Aggregation Services Agreement (“ASA”), a Project Rate 

Agreement was prepared between PWRPA and WSID as the sole Participating Customer, 
which among other things, specifies the rates, terms and conditions for costs and energy 
associated with the Projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, WSID shall provide documentation reasonably satisfactory to PWRPA 

showing that installation, operation, and maintenance of the WSID Project has been determined 
to be exempt from environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) in reliance on, but not limited to, California Public Resources Code section 21080.35 
(statutory exemption for solar system installation) and section 15301 (categorical exemption for 
future maintenance and operation of an existing facility); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Rate Agreement shall be effective on the first day when all of the 

following shall have occurred: (a) the Rate Agreement has been executed and delivered by 
WSID to PWRPA; (b) White Pine Renewables has executed the PPA; (c) PWRPA has executed 
(i) the PPA, and delivered it to White Pine Renewables and (ii) the Rate Agreement, and delivered 
it to WSID; and 

 
WHEREAS, WSID desires that the WSID Solar Project be designated as a PWRPA 

Project with WSID as the host Project Participant. 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pooling Authority Board hereby: 
 

1. Finds that it is reasonable and consistent with the purpose and objective of the JPA and 
ASA to designate the WSID Solar Project as a Pooling Authority “Project” as that term is 
defined in JPA Section 1.12. (Attachment A) 

2. Finds that it is reasonable and consistent with the purpose and objective of the JPA and 
ASA to designate WSID as the sole “Project Participant” as that term is defined in JPA 
Section 1.14 (“RPS Project Participant”). 

3. Approves the form of the Rate Agreement, subject to non-substantive changes made to it 
by General Counsel. (Attachment B). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 of 6 



Resolution 23-12-21 
 
 

4. Approves the form of the PPA, subject to non-substantive changes made to it by the 
General Counsel. (Attachment C). 

 
5. Authorizes and directs the General Counsel to make any final, non-substantive changes 

that he believes are necessary to the Rate Agreement and PPA, and to distribute them 
to WSID and White Pine Renewables, respectively. 

 
6. Authorizes and directs the Chairman, or designee, to execute the Rate Agreement Rate 

Agreement and the PPA. 
 

7. Authorizes and directs authorized representatives of PWRPA to do and perform any and 
all acts required under the Rate Agreement and PPA in order to fulfill PWRPA’s 
obligations described therein. 

8. Authorizes this Resolution to take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Pooling Authority Board of Directors this 6th day of 
December, 2023, by the following vote on roll call: 

 
 

 
 
AYES 

Arvin-Edison WSD, Banta Carbona ID, Byron Bethany ID, Cawelo WD, Glenn-
Colusa ID, James ID, Lower Tule River ID, Princeton/Provident ID, RD 108, 
Santa Clara Valley WD, Sonoma County Water Agency, West Stanislaus ID, 
Westlands Water District, (100.0% Voting Shares ) 

NOES  

ABSENT  
 
 
 
 
David Weisenberger Attest by: Bruce McLaughlin 
Chairman Secretary 

3 of 6 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-21 

 
Attachment A for Resolution 23-12-21 

Project Description 
 
 

White Pine Renewables will permit, construct, commission, own, and operate a solar power 
resource on land in the West Stanislaus Irrigation District located in San Joaquin County, with 
general attributes as follows: 

 
1. Size – 3,800 kW AC. 

 
2. Commercial Operation Date (“COD”) – during late Q1 2025. 

 
3. Interconnection – the project will interconnect directly to the PG&E electric system using 

Rule 21. 
 

4. Output – Preliminary estimates indicate an average annual output of 9,226,000 kWh 
over the 35-year term. 

 
5. PWRPA will enter into a Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) to buy all the electrical 

energy, capacity and renewable energy credits/environmental attributes from the 
Project for a 35-year period. 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-21 

 
 

Attachment B for Resolution 23-12-21 
 

Form of Rate Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 of 6 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 1 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

SEPARATELY METERED DISTRIBUTED GENERATION RATE 
AGREEMENT 

– WSID SOLAR PROJECT – 
 

This Separately Metered Distributed Generation Rate Agreement – WSID Solar 
Project (“SMDG Rate Agreement”), effective as of date described in Section 2.1, is made 
and entered into by and between the Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
(“PWRPA”) and the West Stanislaus Irrigation District (“WSID”). WSID is a Project 
Participant and by executing this SMDG Rate Agreement becomes a Participating 
Customer,” thereby affirmatively electing to pay rates reflecting costs, energy, and 
environmental attributes associated with PWRPA’s generation entitlement share in the 
SMDG Solar Project. 

 
RECITALS 

 

1. PWRPA operates as a publicly owned electric utility and provides retail electric 
service to WSID and other Project Participants pursuant to the Aggregation Services 
Agreement (“ASA”) and rates, terms and conditions adopted by PWRPA’s Board of 
Directors, which administers the ASA and serves as the Local Regulatory Authority 
(“LRA”) for PWRPA. 
2. As generally described in Section 4.6 and Article 7 of the PWRPA Joint Powers 
Agreement (“JPA”), and Section 4.6 of the ASA, Project Participants may elect to pay 
rates reflecting energy and costs associated with specific electric resource projects 
developed by PWRPA. 
3. Separately Metered Distributed Generation (“SMDG”) projects are eligible renewable 
electricity resources that are co-located with the retail load of a Participating Customer 
to be served in a manner that, as compared to centralized electricity generation 
resources, reduces environmental impacts related to siting, reduces greenhouse gas 
emissions, reduces distribution losses, reduces certain distribution and/or transmission 
charges, and adds to local electric reliability. 
4. In accordance with PWRPA Renewable Energy Resources Procurement Plan 
(“PWRPA RPS Plan”) section 6.B, SMDG is classified as a Portfolio Content 
Category 1 resource since the electricity products are procured as bundled from an 
eligible renewable energy resource that has its first point of interconnection to a 
distribution system used to serve end users within a California balancing authority. 
5. PWRPA is participating in the development of one SMDG Solar Project on a parcel of 
land located in San Joaquin County (“WSID SMDG”), nominally rated at 3,600 kilowatts 
–alternating current (“kWAC”). The land and pumping facilities are owned by WSID. 
The SMDG facilities will be owned and operated by WSID Solar, LLC (“Seller”).  
6. PWRPA will execute a power purchase agreement (“SMDG PPA”) with the Seller 
relating to the sale and purchase of the full electrical output and associated 
environmental attributes from the WSID SMDG facilities (  “SMDG Project”). 

 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 2 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

7. Appendix 1 to Exhibit E of the ASA (“PWRPA Allocation Policy”) describes, among 
other things, how costs and energy from specific resources will be allocated to those 
Project Participants that have elected to pay rates reflecting such costs and energy 
(“Participating Customers”). WSID is the sole Participating Customer for the SMDG 
Projects.  

8. PWRPA and WSID desire to enter into this SMDG Rate Agreement in order to specify 
the rates, terms and conditions associated with energy generated by the SMDG 
Projects. PWRPA and the Seller have agreed to the form of the SMDG PPA, subject to 
non- substantial changes as approved by their respective counsel. PWRPA intends to 
execute the SMDG PPA following the Seller’s approval and execution of the SMDG 
PPA. 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and 
conditions hereinafter set forth, PWRPA and the Participating Customer agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 1 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
1.1 Definitions: Capitalized terms used in this SMDG Rate Agreement without other 

definition herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the ASA or 
the SMDG PPA, as so designated herein. 

1.2 ASA Incorporated: This SMDG Rate Agreement consists of this document, as it may 
be amended from time to time pursuant to Section 1.4, and the ASA, as it may be 
amended from time to time pursuant to Section 2.5 of the ASA. The ASA is hereby 
incorporated into and made a part of this SMDG Rate Agreement. 

1.3 SMDG PPA: As described further in Section 3.3, the SMDG PPA shall not be 
incorporated into and made a part of this SMDG Rate Agreement. However, in light 
of the importance of the SMDG PPA in regard to the administration of this SMDG 
Rate Agreement, the SMDG PPA is attached hereto as Attachment 1 for reference 
purposes. PWRPA has provided WSID a copy of the final, effective SMDG PPA. 

1.4 Amendments: This SMDG Rate Agreement may be amended only by written 
instrument executed by PWRPA and WSID. PWRPA shall provide notice to 
WSID of the amendment of this SMDG Rate Agreement. 

1.5 Conflicting Provisions: As described further in Section 3.1, this SMDG Rate 
Agreement is intended to implement various provisions in the ASA, including 
specifically Section 4.5 of the ASA and the PWRPA Allocation Policy, relating to so- 
called “Specific Projects.” As such, notwithstanding Section 2.4 of the ASA, in the 
event of any conflict between this document and the ASA, this document shall control. 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 3 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

ARTICLE 2 
EFFECTIVE DATE AND 

PARTICIPATION 
 
2.1 Effective Date: This SMDG Rate Agreement shall be effective on the first day when 

all of the following shall have occurred: (a) this SMDG Rate Agreement shall have 
been executed and delivered by the Participating Customer to PWRPA, (b) Seller 
shall have executed the SMDG PPA, (c) PWRPA shall have executed (i) the SMDG 
PPA, and delivered it to Seller and (ii) this SMDG Rate Agreement, and delivered it 
to WSID (“Effective Date”) and (d) WSID shall have executed the Solar Power 
License Agreement By and Between WSID Solar, LLC and the Banta Carbona 
Irrigation District (“Site License”). PWRPA shall provide written notice to WSID 
of the establishment of the Effective Date; provided, however, the failure to provide 
such notice shall not affect the establishment of the Effective Date. 

2.2 SMDG Rate Percentages: 

2.2.1 General: WSID is the sole Participating Customer in the SMDG Projects. 
As such, WSID shall receive all energy, Environmental Attributes Value 
and costs under this SMDG Rate Agreement. 

2.2.2 Specified SMDG Rate Percentage: WSID is the sole Participating 
Customer for the SMDG Projects, and hereby affirms that its participation 
level in the SMDG Projects is 100% (“SMDG Rate Percentage”) 

2.2.3 PWRPA’s Generation Entitlement Share: PWRPA’s 
Generation Entitlement Share is 100% of the SMDG Projects. 

 
ARTICLE 3 

SCOPE AND RELATIONSHIP 
 
3.1 General:  PWRPA operates as a publicly owned electric utility and provides full 

requirements retail electric service to the Project Participants. The ASA and the 
various rates, policies and programs adopted by the Board define the process by 
which PWRPA obtains power resources and allocates costs through rates to the 
Project Participants. Under the JPA and ASA, PWRPA has the authority to offer and 
implement a flexible power procurement program in which, among other things, 
PWRPA acquires or generates energy from specific power resources upon 
confirmation from specified Project Participants of their agreement to pay electric 
rates based, in part, on the costs associated with such resources. This SMDG Rate 
Agreement is intended to implement provisions in the ASA relating to PWRPA’s 
flexible power procurement program, including specifically Section 4.5 of the ASA 
and the PWRPA Allocation Policy, relating to the costs and benefits of so-called 
“Specific Projects.” 

3.2 Local Regulatory Authority: As described in Section 5.1 of the ASA, the Board is the 
LRA for PWRPA and, among other things, establishes rates and adopts policies for 
retail electric service provided by PWRPA to the Project Participants consistent with 
the ASA and subject to the following: 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 4 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

3.2.1 Rates: The Board shall establish rates to ensure recovery of the SMDG Costs 
(as defined in Article 4, below) from WSID pursuant to or not otherwise in 
conflict with the terms of this SMDG Rate Agreement. 

3.2.2 Policy Changes: The Board may adopt policies relating to or affecting 
PWRPA’s Generation Entitlement Share of the SMDG as may be 
reasonably necessary in the exercise of the Board’s role as LRA for 
PWRPA; provided, however, such policies shall not conflict with the terms 
of this SMDG Rate Agreement unless WSID consents to such change in 
writing. 

3.3 SMDG Agreements: Consistent with its administration of other power resources, 
only PWRPA, and not WSID, shall have privity of contract with respect to the 
SMDG PPA and other agreements relating to PWRPA’s Generation Entitlement 
Share. PWRPA shall ensure the SMDG PPA specifies that WSID has a third party 
beneficiary interest in the SMDG PPA. 

3.4 CEQA: WSID shall be the lead agency for compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act. PWRPA shall be a responsible agency. 

 
ARTICLE 4  

RATE PROVISIONS 
 

4.1 Participating Customer Liability for SMDG Costs: By executing this SMDG 
Rate Agreement, WSID agrees to pay rates established by the Board that reflect, 
among other things, all costs reasonably associated with PWRPA’s Generation 
Entitlement Share, as further described below. 

4.1.1 General:  WSID shall pay through rates its share (as determined by its 
respective SMDG Rate Percentage) of PWRPA’s costs associated with 
PWRPA’s Generation Entitlement Share, which shall include (a) all costs 
paid by PWRPA under the SMDG PPA and (b) such other costs determined 
by the Board from time to time to be reasonably related to PWRPA’s 
administration and operation of the SMDG PPA and this SMDG Rate 
Agreement (“SMDG Costs”). 

4.1.2 Obligation for the Term of the SMDG PPA: WSID acknowledges and 
agrees as follows: 
(a.) the term of the SMDG PPA is expected to continue for 35 years from 

the Commercial Operation Date for the respective SMDG facility; 
(b.) the Contract Price applicable to PWRPA is shown in Schedule 2-1 to 

the SMDG PPA; and 

(c.)  WSID’s rate obligation under this SMDG Rate Agreement shall 
continue for the term of the SMDG PPA and such additional time, if 
any, as determined by the Board to be necessary for the recovery of 
all SMDG Costs. 

 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 5 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

4.1.3 Cost Allocation: Section VI of Exhibit E to the ASA describes various 
formulas used to implement cost allocation principles in the ASA. In light of 
WSID’s SMDG Rate Percentage (100%), the SMDG Costs shall be 
allocated entirely to WSID. 

4.1.4 Recovery of All Fees and Costs: Without limiting the generality of the 
various cost recovery provisions in the ASA and under California law, and 
notwithstanding Section 11.1 of the ASA (as implemented pursuant to 
Section 8.1 of the Joint Powers Agreement), PWRPA shall be entitled to 
recover from WSID, in addition to the cost responsibility charge described 
in Section 4.3, attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs reasonably necessary to 
obtain such determination and to recover amounts due as a result of WSID’s 
default. 

4.1.5 Financial Remedial Actions: Should WSID be determined to be in 
Continuing Default, PWRPA shall have the right at any time or from time to 
time without after at least 30 calendar days notice to WSID, any such notice 
being hereby expressly waived, to pay the unpaid amount in the following 
manner and order of sequence (“Financial Remedial Actions”): 
(a.) Withdraw any and all funds available in WSID’s P3-RCA account 

that was established by the PWRPA RPS Cost of Compliance Rule. 
(b.) Withdraw any and all funds available in WSID’s Public Purpose 

Program Account, regardless of their categorization. 
(c.) Withdraw any and all funds available in the WSID’s Allowance 

Value account established by the PWRPA Cap-and-Trade Cost of 
Compliance Rule. 

(d.) Withdraw any and all funds available in WSID’s Environmental 
Attribute Value account. 

(e.) Increase the rate for all electricity sales to WSID using an RPS 
Compliance Adder of $35/MWh. 

4.2 Implementation of the PWRPA Allocation Policy: The PWRPA Allocation 
Policy shall be implemented with respect to this SMDG Rate Agreement as follows: 

(a) PWRPA’s Generation Entitlement Share shall be allocated using the 
rules for the “Energy Efficiency” Tier. 
(b) In accordance with the RPS Cost of Compliance Rule adopted by 
Resolution 14-04-04, the Renewable Energy Certificates associated with the 
SMDG electricity generation project shall be allocated to WSID’s assigned 
share of PWRPA’s RPS compliance obligation. 

4.3 Withdrawal or Termination 

4.3.1 SMDG Cost Responsibility Charge: As generally described in Sections 
10.2 and 10.3 of the ASA, a Project Participant that withdraws from the 
ASA or has its participation under the ASA terminated shall, among other 
things, continue to be responsible for its relative share of the net 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 6 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

unavoidable costs of PWRPA’s generation resources. In addition to other 
terms and conditions in the ASA, WSID agrees that if it withdraws from the 
ASA or has its participation under the ASA terminated (“Departing SMDG 
Participant”), it shall continue to be responsible for the net unavoidable costs 
associated with its allocation of costs from PWRPA’s Generation 
Entitlement Share (“SMDG Cost Responsibility Charge”). The Board, in its 
role as LRA, shall determine the amount of the SMDG Cost Responsibility 
Charge. 

4.3.2 Cooperation; Withdrawal: As described in Recital 3, above, PWRPA 
acknowledges that the SMDG Projects are co-located with WSID’s retail 
load in order to effectuate several environmental and electrical benefits. If 
WSID elects to withdraw from the ASA, PWRPA shall cooperate in good 
faith with WSID, as requested by WSID, in order to ensure that the SMDG 
Projects remain co-located with WSID’s retail load. Such cooperation may 
include, but shall not be limited to, assigning the SMDG PPA to WSID and 
rearranging the electric distribution system; provided, however, in all 
instances WSID shall reimburse PWRPA for its costs incurred in such 
cooperative efforts. 

 
ARTICLE 5 

TERM, TERMINATION AND ASSIGNMENT 

5.1 Term: The term of this SMDG Rate Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date 
and, unless earlier terminated, shall continue concurrent with the term of the SMDG 
PPA as it relates to PWRPA, and such additional time as determined by the Board 
to be necessary for the recovery of all SMDG Costs. 

5.2 Termination 
 

5.2.1 Board Action and Consent by the Participating Customers: This SMDG 
Rate Agreement may be terminated by PWRPA at any time upon reasonable 
advance notice to WSID upon adoption of a resolution by the Board 
directing PWRPA to terminate this SMDG Rate Agreement; provided, 
however, (a) such resolution shall not be effective unless WSID consents to 
the termination in writing and (b) prior to such termination, and if requested 
by WSID, PWRPA shall cooperate with WSID as may be reasonably 
necessary to modify or assign the SMDG PPA or otherwise provide a means 
by which WSID may receive economic benefits from the operation of the 
SMDG comparable to the economic benefits WSID receives under this 
SMDG Rate Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing in 
clause (b), above, PWRPA acknowledges that the SMDG Projects are co- 
located with WSID’s retail load in order to effectuate several environmental 
and electrical benefits, and therefore PWRPA agrees to cooperate in good 
faith with WSID, as requested by WSID and as generally described in 
Section 4.3.2, in order to ensure that the SMDG Projects remain co-located 
with WSID’s retail load. 

5.2.2 Default: In addition to all other remedies provided in this SMDG Rate 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 7 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

Agreement and under law, PWRPA may terminate this SMDG Rate 
Agreement if WSID is in material default of this SMDG Rate Agreement 
and fails to timely cure such material default following 30-calendar days 
notice and reasonable opportunity to cure. 

5.2.3 Withdrawal and Payment of SMDG Cost Responsibility Charge: This 
SMDG Rate Agreement shall be terminated with respect to WSID if WSID 
withdraws from the ASA and fully pays the SMDG Cost Responsibility 
Charge and any costs associated with PWRPA’s cooperative efforts, as 
described in Section 4.3.2. 

 
ARTICLE 6 

MISCELLANEOUS 
6.1 Severability: If one or more clauses, sentences, paragraphs or provisions of this 

SMDG Rate Agreement shall be held to be unlawful, invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this SMDG Rate Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall be 
treated as lawful and valid, and shall be enforced to the maximum extent possible. 

6.2 Further Assurances: WSID agrees to execute and deliver all further instruments 
and documents and take all further actions that may be reasonably necessary to 
effectuate the purposes and intent of this SMDG Rate Agreement. 

6.3 Counterparts: This SMDG Rate Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, including through facsimile signatures, and upon execution by 
PWRPA and WSID each executed counterpart shall have the same force and effect 
as an original document and as if PWRPA and the Participating Customer had 
signed the same document. Any signature page of this SMDG Rate Agreement may 
be detached from any counterpart of this SMDG Rate Agreement without impairing 
the legal effect of any signatures thereon, and may be attached to another 
counterpart of this SMDG Rate Agreement identical in form but having attached to 
it one or more signature pages. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

SMDG Rate Agreement  Page 8 of 8 
West Stanislaus Irrigation District 
Draft version_231201 

 
ARTICLE 7 
SIGNATURE 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PWRPA and the Participating Customer have executed 

this SMDG Rate Agreement as of date written below. 
 
POWER AND WATER RESOURCES POOLING AUTHORITY 

 
 
By: 

 

Title:     
 

Date:     
 
 
 
WEST STANISLAUS IRRAGATION DISTRICT 

 
 
By: 

 

Name:     
 

Title:     
 

Customer:     
 

Date:   



 

 

 



Power & Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Resolution 23-12-21 

 
 

Attachment C to Resolution 23-12-21 

Form of Power Purchase Agreement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 of 6 



HB Draft – November 30, 2023 

 

SOLAR POWER & SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Solar Power & Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of [__], 2023 
(the “Effective Date”), between Solar Moving Water, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), and 
Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority, a California public agency, (“Purchaser”; and, together with Seller, 
each, a “Party” and together, the “Parties”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, [[_] (“Land-Owner”) / Seller] intends to purchase the Premises (as hereafter defined);1 and 

WHEREAS, Purchaser desires that Seller install and operate a solar photovoltaic system at the Premises 
for the purpose of providing Solar Services (as hereafter defined), and Seller is willing to do the same.  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth below, and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as 
follows: 

The exhibits listed below are incorporated by reference and made part of this Agreement. 
 

Exhibit 1: Special Terms and Conditions 
Exhibit 2: General Terms and Conditions 
Exhibit 3: Performance Guaranty 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF and in confirmation of their consent to this Agreement and intending to be 

legally bound hereby, Seller and Purchaser have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 

 
 

PURCHASER SELLER 

Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority Solar Moving Water, LLC 

“PURCHASER”:  

 
By:___________________________ 

Name: [_] 
Title:   [_] 
 

“SELLER”:  

 
By:___________________________ 

Name: Evan Riley 
Title: Authorized Person 
 

 

 
1 Note to Draft: Pending confirmation that Solar Moving Water, LLC will be purchaser.  If other WP entity 
purchases the land, insert last whereas clause: ,and WHEREAS: Land-Owner will lease the Premises to Seller for 
the purposes of providing the Solar Services. 

HB: 4867-4407-8228.4 



 

Exhibit 1 

EXHIBIT 1 
Special Terms and Conditions 

 
The following Schedules are incorporated by reference and made part of this Agreement: 

Schedule 1-1 Description of the Premises, System and Scope of 
Work 

Schedule 1-2 Electricity Rates 
Schedule 1-3 Early Termination Fee 
Schedule 1-4 Estimated Annual Production 
Schedule 1-5   Notice Information 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 



 

Exhibit 1 - Schedule 1-1 
 

Schedule 1-1:  Description of the Premises, System and Scope of Work 
 

A.     Premises 

APN: A parcel of real property located at [_], in Stanislaus County, California, with 
the following APN: [_]. 
 

B.     Solar System Description 
Interconnection Type: [PG&E Rule 21] 

Solar System Size (kW dc): 4,890 kW dc 
Solar System Size (kW ac): 3,800 kW ac 

C.     Scope of Work 

Overview: Design and supply grid-interconnected, ground-mounted solar electric (PV) 
system 

 
The Parties acknowledge and agree that, upon written notice to the Purchaser, Seller may update Part B of the table 
set forth on this Schedule 1-1 after the Effective Date to reflect the then-current System design. 



 

Exhibit 1- Schedule 1-2 - Page 2 

Schedule 1-2 – Electricity Rates 

1. The “Term” is 34 years and 364 days, beginning on the Effective Date. 

2. The “Pumping Rate” with respect to the System under this Agreement shall be in accordance with this Schedule 
1-2, subject to any adjustments described herein:    

Contract Year Pumping Rate* ($/kWh) 
1 $0.0893 
2 $0.0906  
3 $0.0920  
4 $0.0933  
5 $0.0947  
6 $0.0962  
7 $0.0976  
8 $0.0991  
9 $0.1006  
10 $0.1021  
11 $0.1036  
12 $0.1051  
13 $0.1067  
14 $0.1083  
15 $0.1100  
16 $0.1116  
17 $0.1133  
18 $0.1150  
19 $0.1167  
20 $0.1185  
21 $0.1202  
22 $0.1220  
23 $0.1239  
24 $0.1257  
25 $0.1276  
26 $0.1295  
27 $0.1315  
28 $0.1334  
29 $0.1354  
30 $0.1375  
31 $0.1395  
32 $0.1416  
33 $0.1438  
34 $0.1459  
35 $0.1481  

Note: *The Pumping Rate for each Contract Year after Contract Year 1 is calculated 
based on the Contract Year 1 Pumping Rate multiplied by a 1.5% escalation factor for 
each subsequent year. 

 

3. The “Export Rate” with respect to the System under this Agreement shall be in accordance with this Schedule 
1-2, subject to any adjustments described herein:    

Contract Year Export Rate* ($/kWh) 



 

Exhibit 1- Schedule 1-2 - Page 2 

1 $0.0893 
2 $0.0906  
3 $0.0920  
4 $0.0933  
5 $0.0947  
6 $0.0962  
7 $0.0976  
8 $0.0991  
9 $0.1006  
10 $0.1021  
11 $0.1036  
12 $0.1051  
13 $0.1067  
14 $0.1083  
15 $0.1100  
16 $0.1116  
17 $0.1133  
18 $0.1150  
19 $0.1167  
20 $0.1185  
21 $0.1202  
22 $0.1220  
23 $0.1239  
24 $0.1257  
25 $0.1276  
26 $0.1295  
27 $0.1315  
28 $0.1334  
29 $0.1354  
30 $0.1375  
31 $0.1395  
32 $0.1416  
33 $0.1438  
34 $0.1459  
35 $0.1481  

Note: *The Export Rate for each Contract Year after Contract Year 1 is calculated based 
on the Contract Year 1 Export Rate multiplied by a 1.5% escalation factor for each 
subsequent year. 

 

4. Pumping Rate and Export Rate Adjustments: 

(a) Interconnection Adjustment:  

(i) Upon Seller’s receipt of the final system impact study results from CAISO, Seller will 
notify Purchaser of the Final I/C Cost, and  

(ii) Upon determination of the final purchase price of the Premises by [Seller / Land-
Owner] (the “Premises Cost”, and together with the Final I/C Cost, the “Adjustment 
Costs”) the Pumping Rate and Export Rate will be adjusted as set forth below (the “Rate 
Adjustment”):  



 

Exhibit 1- Schedule 1-2 - Page 2 

1. If the Adjustment Costs are $650,000, the Pumping Rate and Export Rate shall 
be as set forth in the above tables. 

2. If the Adjustment Costs are greater than $650,000, the Pumping Rate and Export 
Rate shall be adjusted upwards by $0.0035/kWh for every $100,000 that the 
Adjustment Costs are in excess of $650,000 by prorating the Pumping Rate and 
Export Rate listed in the tables above. 

3. If the Adjustment Costs are less than $650,000, the Pumping Rate and Export 
Rate shall be adjusted downwards by $0.0035/kWh for every $100,000 that the 
Adjustment Costs are less than $650,000 by prorating the Pumping Rate and 
Export Rate listed in the tables above. 

4. If the Adjustment Costs are greater than $1,250,000 (the “Adjustment 
Maximum”), the Seller shall have the right to (x) continue development of the 
System with the adjustment of the Pumping Rate and Export Rate limited to 
$0.021/kWh or (y) terminate this Agreement as set forth in Section 2.2(b) of 
Exhibit 2 (in which case Purchaser will have no further liability or obligation to 
Seller arising out of or pursuant to this PPA except as expressly stated herein). 

For purposes of clarity, the Pumping Rate and Export Rate will be adjusted starting with the first 
dollar in excess of or less than $650,000, as applicable, for any Rate Adjustment listed above. 

 



 

Exhibit 1 – Schedule 1-3 

Schedule 1-3 – Early Termination Fee 
 

1. The Early Termination Fee with respect to the System under this Agreement shall be calculated in accordance 
with the following:    

Early Termination Occurs 
in Contract Year: 

Early Termination Fee 
($/Wdc) 

1 2.74 
2 2.70 
3 2.69 
4 2.67 
5 2.65 
6 2.63 
7 2.06 
8 2.03 
9 2.00 
10 1.96 
11 1.92 
12 1.88 
13 1.83 
14 1.77 
15 1.70 
16 1.63 
17 1.55 
18 1.46 
19 1.36 
20 1.26 
21 1.18 
22 1.11 
23 1.04 
24 0.98 
25 0.92 
26 0.86 
27 0.80 
28 0.74 
29 0.68 
30 0.62 
31 0.56 
32 0.50 
33 0.44 
34 0.38 
35 0.32 

 
2. Following the Expiration Date, the Early Termination Fee shall be deemed to be $0. 

3. The Early Termination Fee for Contract Year 1 applies to any Early Termination Date that occurs before the 
Commercial Operation Date.



 

Exhibit 1 – Schedule 1-4 

Schedule 1-4 – Estimated Annual Production 
 

1. The Estimated Annual Production with respect the System under this Agreement is as follows: 
 

Contract Year Estimated Annual Production (kWh) 
1 10,034,280 
2 9,984,109 
3 9,934,188 
4 9,884,517 
5 9,835,094 
6 9,785,919 
7 9,736,989 
8 9,688,304 
9 9,639,863 
10 9,591,664 
11 9,543,705 
12 9,495,987 
13 9,448,507 
14 9,401,264 
15 9,354,258 
16 9,307,487 
17 9,260,949 
18 9,214,645 
19 9,168,571 
20 9,122,728 
21 9,077,115 
22 9,031,729 
23 8,986,571 
24 8,941,638 
25 8,896,930 
26 8,852,445 
27 8,808,183 
28 8,764,142 
29 8,720,321 
30 8,676,719 
31 8,633,336 
32 8,590,169 
33 8,547,218 
34 8,504,482 
35 8,461,960 

 

2. The Estimated Annual Production values set forth in the table above are estimates (and not guarantees) of 
approximately how many kWhs are expected to be generated annually by the System based on the size of the 
System indicated in Schedule 1-1.  Seller shall deliver to Purchaser updated Estimated Annual Production 
values for this Schedule 1-4 immediately following the Commercial Operation Date that reflect the actual 
System size.  

 



 

Exhibit 1 – Schedule 1-5 – Page 1 

Schedule 1-5 – Notice Information 
 
 

Purchaser:  
 
Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
Attn: [_] 
[Address] 
[Address] 
 

Seller: 
 
Solar Moving Water, LLC 
Attn: Evan Riley 
1808 Wedemeyer Street, Suite 221 
San Francisco, CA 94129 
 
 
 
 
 
Financing  Party: 
[To be provided by Seller when 
known]  
 
 
 

 
 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 1 

EXHIBIT 2 
General Terms and Conditions 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

1.1 Definitions.  In addition to other terms specifically defined elsewhere in this Agreement, where capitalized, the 
following words and phrases shall be defined as follows: 

“Adjustment Costs” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions). 

“Adjustment Maximum” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions). 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or 
under common control with such specified Person.   

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, any constitutional provision, law, statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, 
treaty, order, decree, judgment, decision, certificate, holding, injunction, registration, license, franchise, permit, authorization, 
guideline, Governmental Approval, consent or requirement of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such 
Person or its property, enforceable at law or in equity, including the interpretation and administration thereof by such 
Governmental Authority. 

“Assignment” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1. 

“Bankruptcy Event” means with respect to a Party, that either:  

(a) such Party has (A) applied for or consented to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, 
custodian, trustee or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property; (B) admitted in writing 
its inability, or be generally unable, to pay its debts as such debts become due; (C) made a general assignment 
for the benefit of its creditors; (D) commenced a voluntary case under any bankruptcy law; (E) filed a petition 
seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding up, or 
composition or readjustment of debts; (F) failed to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or 
acquiesced in writing to, any petition filed against such Party in an involuntary case under any bankruptcy 
law; or (G) taken any corporate or other action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or  
 

(b) a proceeding or case has been commenced without the application or consent of such Party in any court of 
competent jurisdiction seeking (A) its liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or winding-up or the 
composition or readjustment of debts or, (B) the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or 
the like of such Party under any bankruptcy law, and such proceeding or case has continued undefended, or 
any order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continue 
unstayed and in effect for a period of 60 days. 

“Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banking institutions in New York, 
NY are required or authorized by Applicable Law to be closed for business. 

“CAISO” means the California Independent System Operator. 

“Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.2. 

“Commercial Operation Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b). 

“Contract Year” means a 12-month period commencing on the Commercial Operation Date and each succeeding 12-month 
period; if the Commercial Operation Date does not occur on the first day of a month, the first Contract Year shall be deemed 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 2 

to include that portion of the month in which the Commercial Operation Date occurred plus the succeeding 12-month period 
such that every subsequent Contract Year shall commence on the first day of a month and end on the last day of the month 
immediately preceding such anniversary. 

“Disruption Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(b). 

“Early Termination Date” means any date on which this Agreement terminates other than by reason of expiration of the then 
applicable Term. 

“Early Termination Fee” means the fee payable by Purchaser to Seller under the circumstances described in Section 2.2(a), 
or Section 11.2, and in the amount described on Schedule 1-3 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions).  

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement. 

“Electrical Energy” means the total quantity of electricity generated by the System that is recorded by Seller’s metering 
equipment pursuant to Section 4.2 and delivered as Pumping Energy or Export Energy. For the purpose of clarity, all Electrical 
Energy shall be classified as either Pumping Energy or Export Energy. 

“Environmental Attributes” means the characteristics of electric power generation at the System that have intrinsic values, 
separate and apart from the Electrical Energy, including, without limitation, carbon trading credits, renewable energy credits 
or certificates, capacity attributes, emissions reduction credits, emissions allowances, green tags, tradable renewable credits, 
and Green-e® products. 

“Environmental Law” means any and all federal, state, local, provincial and foreign, civil and criminal laws, statutes, 
ordinances, orders, common law, codes, rules, regulations, judgments, decrees, injunctions relating to the protection of health 
and the environment, worker health and safety, and/or governing the handling, use, generation, treatment, storage, 
transportation, disposal, manufacture, distribution, formulation, packaging, labeling, or release to the environment of or 
exposure to Hazardous Materials, including any such requirements implemented through Governmental Approvals. 

“Estimated Annual Production” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2. 

“Estimated Remaining Payments” means as of any date, the estimated remaining Solar Services Payments to be made through 
the end of the then-applicable Term, as reasonably determined by Seller and set forth in Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and 
Conditions). 

“Expiration Date” means the date on which this Agreement terminates by reason of expiration of the Term. 

“Export Energy” means the quantity of Electrical Energy delivered to and measured by CAISO’s revenue-grade meter. 

“Export Rate” means the price per kWh as set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), subject to 
any Rate Adjustment defined therein. 

“Final I/C Cost” means the final interconnection costs for the System set forth in the final system impact study provided by 
CAISO to Seller. 

“Financing Party” means, as applicable (i) any Person  (or its agent) from whom Seller (or an Affiliate of Seller) leases the 
System, (ii) any Person (or its agent) who has made or will make a loan to or otherwise provides financing to Seller (or an 
Affiliate of Seller) with respect to the System, or (iii) any Person acquiring a direct or indirect interest in Seller or in Seller’s 
interest in this Agreement or the System as a tax credit investor. 

“Force Majeure Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1. 

“General Conditions” means this Exhibit 2 (General Terms and Conditions) of this Agreement, including all Schedules hereto. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 3 

“Governmental Approval” means any approval, consent, franchise, permit, certificate, resolution, concession, license, or 
authorization issued by or on behalf of any applicable Governmental Authority, including any such approval, consent, order 
or binding agreements with or involving a governmental authority under Environmental Laws. 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, regional, county, town, city, or municipal government, whether domestic 
or foreign, or any department, agency, bureau, or other administrative, regulatory or judicial body of any such government. 

“Hazardous Materials” means any hazardous or toxic material, substance or waste, including petroleum, petroleum 
hydrocarbons or petroleum products, petroleum by-products, radioactive materials, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, 
gasoline, diesel fuel, pesticides, radon, urea formaldehyde, mold, lead or lead-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls; 
and any other chemicals, materials, substances or wastes in any amount or concentration which are regulated under or for 
which liability can be imposed under any Environmental Law.  

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1. 

“Indemnifying Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1. 

“Installation Work” means the construction and installation of the System and the start-up, testing and acceptance (but not 
the operation and maintenance) thereof, all performed by or for Seller at the Premises. 

“Invoice Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2. 

“Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1. 

“Losses” means all losses, liabilities, claims, demands, suits, causes of action, judgments, awards, damages, cleanup and 
remedial obligations, interest, fines, fees, penalties, costs and expenses (including all attorneys’ fees and other costs and 
expenses incurred in defending any such claims or other matters or in asserting or enforcing any indemnity obligation). 

“Party” or “Parties” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.   

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, 
unincorporated association, joint venture, firm, or other entity, or a Governmental Authority. 

“Pre-existing Environmental Conditions” means the presence or release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials at, to, 
on, in, under or from the Premises that first existed, arose or occurred on or prior to Seller’s commencement of construction 
at the Premises. 

“Premises” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1-1 of Exhibit 1. 

“Premises Cost” means the final purchase price of the Premises by [Land-Owner / Seller].  

“Pumping Energy” means the quantity of Electrical Energy that is delivered to the Purchaser for resale for the water-related 
loads of customers. 

“Pumping Rate” means the price per kWh as set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), subject 
to any Rate Adjustment defined therein. Pumping Energy for any given time period shall be measured by subtracting the 
amount of Export Energy from the amount of Electrical Energy. 

“Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement. 

“Purchaser Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(a). 

“Rate Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1. 

“Seller” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions). 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 4 

“Seller Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.1(a). 

“Security Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2. 

“Solar Incentives” means any accelerated depreciation, installation or production-based incentives, investment tax credits and 
subsidies, and any other solar or renewable energy subsidies and incentives. 

“Solar Insolation” means the amount of solar energy falling on a particular location, as specified by Seller, as measured in 
kWh per square meter. 

“Solar Services” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3. 

“Solar Services Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1. 

“Special Conditions” means Exhibit 1 of this Agreement, including all Schedules thereto. 

“Stated Rate” means a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (a) the “prime rate” (as reported in The Wall Street Journal) plus 
two percent or (b) the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 

“System” means the integrated assembly of photovoltaic panels, mounting assemblies, inverters, converters, metering, 
lighting fixtures, transformers, ballasts, disconnects, combiners, switches, wiring devices and wiring. 

“System Operations” means Seller’s operation, maintenance and repair of the System performed in accordance with the 
requirements herein. 

“Term” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions).   

“Termination Date” means the date on which this Agreement ceases to be effective, including on an Early Termination Date 
or the Expiration Date.   

“Utility” means Pacific Gas & Electric Company. 

1.2 Interpretation.  The captions or headings in these General Conditions are strictly for convenience and shall not 
be considered in interpreting this Agreement.  Words in this Agreement that impart the singular connotation shall be 
interpreted as plural, and words that impart the plural connotation shall be interpreted as singular, as the identity of the parties 
or objects referred to may require.  The words “include”, “includes”, and “including” mean include, includes, and including 
“without limitation” and “without limitation by specification.”  The words “hereof”, “herein”, and “hereunder” and words of 
similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.  Except as the context 
otherwise indicates, all references to “Articles” and “Sections” refer to Articles and Sections of these General Conditions. 

2. TERM AND TERMINATION. 

2.1 Term.  The Term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date. The electricity supply period under 
this Agreement commences on the Commercial Operation Date and continues for the duration of the Term, unless terminated 
earlier pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement.   

2.2 Early Termination.  

 (a) Purchaser may terminate this Agreement during the Term for any reason upon 60 days’ prior written notice.  In 
such event, Purchaser shall pay, as liquidated damages, the Early Termination Fee set forth on Schedule 1-3 of Exhibit 1 
(Special Terms and Conditions), and Seller shall cause the System to be disconnected and removed from the Premises.  Upon 
Purchaser’s payment to Seller of the Early Termination Fee, this Agreement shall terminate automatically, and all rights, 
interests, duties, and obligations shall cease except as otherwise expressly set forth. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 5 

(b) Seller may terminate this Agreement during the Term if the Rate Adjustment exceeds the Adjustment Maximum 
pursuant to Section 4(a)(ii)(4) of Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1. Upon Seller’s written notice to Purchaser of its intent to terminate 
this Agreement, this Agreement shall terminate automatically, and all rights, interests, duties, and obligations shall cease 
except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

 2.3 Conditions of this Agreement Prior to Commercial Operation Date.   

(a) In the event that any of the following events or circumstances occur prior to the Commercial Operation Date, 
Seller may (in its sole discretion) provide written notice to Purchaser that it is terminating this Agreement, in which case 
neither Party shall have any liability to the other except for any such liabilities that may have accrued prior to such termination: 

(i) Seller determines that the Premises, as is, is insufficient to accommodate the System or unsuitable for 
construction or operation of the System. 

(ii) Premises conditions (including environmental conditions) or construction requirements exist that were not 
known as of the Effective Date and that could reasonably be expected to materially increase the cost of Installation 
Work or would adversely affect the  Electrical Energy from the System as designed. 

(iii) There is a material adverse change in the regulatory environment, incentive program or federal or state tax code 
(including the expiration of any incentive program or tax incentives in effect as of the Effective Date) that could 
reasonably be expected to adversely affect the System. 

(iv) Seller is unable to obtain financing for the System on terms and conditions satisfactory to it. 

(v) There has been a material adverse change in the rights of Seller to construct the System on the Premises. 

(vi) Seller has not received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it that interconnection services will be available with 
respect to energy generated by the System or that interconnection costs or interconnection schedule are not obtained 
from CAISO on terms and conditions satisfactory to it.    

(vii) There has been a material change in Seller's ability to obtain and maintain all necessary consents, approvals, or 
permits required for Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(viii) There has been a material adverse change in Purchaser’s creditworthiness. 

(b)  If any of the conditions set forth in Section 2.3(a) are partly or wholly unsatisfied, and Seller wishes to revise 
the information in Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), then Seller may propose modifications to Exhibit 1 (Special 
Terms and Conditions) for acceptance by Purchaser.  If Purchaser does not accept such modified Special Conditions, Seller 
may terminate this Agreement as provided in Section 2.3(a).  If Purchaser accepts such revised Special Conditions, such 
revised Special Conditions shall be deemed an amendment of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall remain in force and 
effect upon execution of the modification by both Parties.   

3. CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION AND TESTING OF SYSTEM. 

3.1 Installation Work.  Seller will cause the System to be designed, engineered, installed and constructed 
substantially in accordance with Schedule 1-1 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions) and Applicable Law.  At its 
request, Purchaser shall have the right to review all construction plans and designs, including engineering evaluations of the 
impact of the System.  

3.2 Approvals; Permits.  Seller shall obtain and maintain all necessary consents, approvals and permits required to 
for Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement, including but not limited to those related to the Utility, any 
Governmental Approval, and any consents, waivers, approvals or releases required pursuant to any applicable contract; 
provided, that, Purchaser shall reasonably assist Seller in obtaining any such consents, approvals and permits at no cost to the 
Purchaser.  Seller shall pay for all costs and expenses needed to obtain such approvals and permits. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 6 

3.3 System Acceptance Testing. 

(a) Seller shall conduct testing of the System in accordance with such methods, acts, guidelines, standards and 
criteria reasonably accepted or followed by photovoltaic solar system integrators in the United States. 

(b) If the results of such testing indicate that the System is capable of generating and delivering both Pumping 
Energy and Export Energy for a sum total of four continuous hours, using such instruments and meters as have been installed 
for such purposes, and the System has been approved for interconnected operation by the Utility, then Seller shall send a 
written notice to Purchaser to that effect, and the date of such notice shall be the “Commercial Operation Date.”   

4. SYSTEM OPERATIONS. 

4.1 Seller as Owner and Operator. The System will be owned by Seller or Seller’s Financing Party and will be 
operated and maintained and, as necessary, repaired by Seller at its sole cost and expense; provided, that any repair or 
maintenance costs incurred by Seller as a result of Purchaser’s negligence or breach of its obligations hereunder, shall be 
reimbursed by Purchaser.   

4.2 Metering.  Seller shall install and maintain a revenue grade kilowatt-hour (kWh) meter for the measurement of 
Electrical Energy provided by the System and may, at its election, install a revenue grade kilowatt-hour (kWh) meter for the 
measurement or calculation of Export Energy and Pumping Energy.     

4.3 System Disruptions.  In the event any act or omission of Purchaser or Purchaser’s employees, Affiliates, agents 
or subcontractors (collectively, a “Purchaser Act”) results in a disruption or outage in System production, then, in either case, 
Purchaser shall (i) pay Seller for all work required by Seller to disassemble or move the System and (ii) continue to make all 
payments for the Solar Services during such period of System disruption (the “Disruption Period”), and (iii) reimburse Seller 
for any other lost revenue during the Disruption Period, including any lost revenue associated with any reduced Solar 
Incentives during the Disruption Period. For the purpose of calculating Solar Services Payments and lost revenue for such 
Disruption Period, Solar Services for each month of said months shall be deemed to have been produced at the average rate 
over the same month for which data exists (or, if the disruption occurs within the first 12 months of operation, the average 
over such period of operation).  Upon Purchaser’s written request, Seller will provide reasonable documentation supporting 
its lost revenue calculations. 

5. DELIVERY OF SOLAR SERVICES. 

5.1 Electric Power Purchase Requirement.  Purchaser agrees to accept and purchase 100% of the Electrical Energy 
generated by the System and made available by Seller to Purchaser during each relevant month of the Term.  While the 
Electrical Energy is calculated and billed on a per kWh basis as set forth in Schedule 1-2 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and 
Conditions), it represents a package of services and benefits, including any reduction in Purchaser’s peak demand from the 
Utility.  

5.2 Estimated Annual Production. The annual estimate of Electrical Energy with respect to the System for any 
given year as determined pursuant to this Section shall be the “Estimated Annual Production.”  The Estimated Annual 
Production for each year of the Term is set forth in Schedule 1-4 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions). 

5.3 Environmental Attributes and Solar Incentives.  Purchaser’s purchase of the Pumping Energy and Export 
Energy includes the associated Environmental Attributes (collectively, the “Solar Services”), which shall be owned by 
Purchaser for the duration of the Term. Purchaser’s purchase of Solar Services does not include Solar Incentives, which shall 
be owned by Seller or Seller’s Financing Party for the duration of the System’s operating life.  Purchaser disclaims any right 
to Solar Incentives based upon the installation of the System at the Premises, and shall, at the request, and sole expense, of 
Seller, execute any document or agreement reasonably necessary to fulfill the intent of this Section 5.3.  

5.4 Title to System.  Throughout the duration of this Agreement, Seller or Seller’s Financing Party shall be the 
legal and beneficial owner of the System at all times, and the System shall remain the personal property of Seller or Seller’s 
Financing Party and shall not attach to or be deemed to be a part of, or fixture to, the Premises. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 7 

6. PRICE AND PAYMENT. 

6.1 Consideration.  Purchaser shall pay to Seller a monthly payment (the “Solar Services Payment”) for the 
Electrical Energy generated by the System during each calendar month of the Term equal to the sum of (x) the product of (i) 
the Pumping Energy and (ii) the Pumping Rate and (y) the product of (i) the Export Energy and (ii) the Export Rate.   

6.2 Invoice.  Seller shall invoice Purchaser on or about the first day of each month (each, an “Invoice Date”), 
commencing on the first Invoice Date to occur after the Commercial Operation Date, for the Solar Services Payment in respect 
of the immediately preceding month.  The invoice shall include a detailed summary of the calculations set forth in Section 
6.1. The last invoice shall include production only through the Termination Date of this Agreement. 

6.3 Time of Payment.  Purchaser shall pay all undisputed amounts due hereunder within 20 days after the date of 
the applicable Invoice Date. 

6.4 Method of Payment.  All payments that are not paid when due shall bear interest accruing from the date 
becoming past due until paid in full at a rate equal to the Stated Rate.  All payments made hereunder shall be non-refundable, 
be made free and clear of any tax, levy, assessment, duties or other charges and not subject to reduction, withholding, set-off, 
or adjustment of any kind. 

 6.5 Disputed Payments.  If a bona fide dispute arises with respect to any invoice, Purchaser shall not be deemed in 
default under this Agreement and the Parties shall not suspend the performance of their respective obligations hereunder, 
including payment of undisputed amounts owed hereunder.  If an amount disputed by Purchaser is subsequently deemed to 
have been due pursuant to the applicable invoice, interest shall accrue at the Stated Rate on such amount from the date 
becoming past due under such invoice until the date paid. 

7. GENERAL COVENANTS. 

7.1 Seller’s Covenants. Seller covenants and agrees to the following: 

(a) Notice of Damage or Emergency.  Seller shall (x) promptly notify Purchaser if it becomes aware of any damage 
to or loss of the use of the System or that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the System, and (y) immediately 
notify Purchaser if it becomes aware of any event or circumstance relating to the System or the Premises that poses a 
significant risk to human health, the environment, the System or the Premises.  

(b) System Condition. Seller shall take all actions reasonably necessary to ensure that the System is capable of 
providing Solar Services at a commercially reasonable continuous rate. 

(c) Governmental Approvals.  While providing the Installation Work, Solar Services, and System Operations, 
Seller shall obtain and maintain and secure all Governmental Approvals required to be obtained and maintained and secured 
by Seller and to enable Seller to perform such obligations. 

(d) Health and Safety.  Seller shall take all necessary and reasonable safety precautions with respect to providing 
the Installation Work, Solar Services, and System Operations that shall comply with all Applicable Laws pertaining to the 
health and safety of persons and real and personal property.  

7.2 Purchaser’s Covenants.  Purchaser covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) Notice of Damage or Emergency.   Purchaser shall (x) promptly notify Seller if it becomes aware of any damage 
to or loss of the use of the System or that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the System, (y) immediately notify 
Seller if it becomes aware of any event or circumstance that poses an imminent risk to human health, the environment, the 
System or the Premises. 

(b) Liens.  Purchaser shall not directly or indirectly cause, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Liens on or 
with respect to the System or any interest therein. If Purchaser breaches its obligations under this Section, it shall immediately 
notify Seller in writing, shall promptly cause such Lien to be discharged and released of record without cost to Seller, and 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 8 

shall indemnify Seller against all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs at trial and on 
appeal) incurred in discharging and releasing such Lien. 

(c) Consents and Approvals.  Purchaser shall comply with Applicable Law in performing any of its obligations 
under this Agreement.  Purchaser shall ensure that any authorizations required in order to enter into this Agreement are 
obtained or provided in a timely manner.  To the extent that only Purchaser is authorized to request, obtain or issue any 
necessary approvals, Governmental Approvals, rebates or other financial incentives, Purchaser shall reasonably cooperate 
with Seller to obtain or issue such approvals, Governmental Approvals, rebates or other financial incentives in the name of 
Seller. 

(d) Use of System. Purchaser will not use Electrical Energy generated by the System for the purposes of heating a 
swimming pool within the meaning of Section 48 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

(e) Financial Statements. Purchaser shall provide to Seller its publicly available and audited financial 
statements as requested by Seller within 15 Business Days of Seller’s request. 

8. REPRESENTATIONS & WARRANTIES. 

8.1 Representations and Warranties of Both Parties.  In addition to any other representations and warranties 
contained in this Agreement, each Party represents and warrants to the other as of the Effective Date that: 

(a)  it is duly organized and validly existing and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its organization; 

(b) it has the full right and authority to enter into, execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement; 

(c) it has taken all requisite corporate or other action to approve the execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Agreement; 

(d) this Agreement constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation enforceable against such Party in accordance 
with its terms, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar 
laws now or hereafter in effect relating to creditors’ rights generally; 

(e) to its actual knowledge, there is no litigation, action, proceeding or investigation pending or threatened before 
any court or other Governmental Authority by, against, affecting or involving any of its business or assets that could 
reasonably be expected to adversely affect its ability to carry out the transactions contemplated herein; and  

(f)  its execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not 
constitute a breach of any term or provision of, or a default under, (i) any contract, agreement or Governmental Approval to 
which it or any of its Affiliates is a party or by which it or any of its Affiliates or its or their property is bound, (ii) its 
organizational documents, or (iii) any Applicable Laws. 

8.2 Representations of Purchaser. Purchaser represents and warrants to Seller as of the Effective Date that: 

(a) Purchaser has been advised that part of the collateral securing the financial arrangements for the System may 
be the granting of a first priority perfected security interest (the “Security Interest”) in the System to a Financing Party; 

(b) no existing lease, mortgage, security interest or other interest in or lien upon the Premises exists that could 
attach to the System as an interest adverse to Seller’s Financing Party’s Security Interest therein; 

(c) there exists no event or condition which constitutes a default, or would, with the giving of notice or lapse of 
time, constitute a default under this Agreement; and 

(d)  all information provided by Purchaser to Seller as it pertains to Purchaser's estimated electricity requirements, 
is accurate in all material respects. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 9 

8.3 NO OTHER WARRANTIES.  THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 8.1 AND 8.2 OF THIS 
AGREEMENT ARE PURCHASER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE BASIS FOR ANY CLAIM OR LIABILITY ARISING 
OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS SECTION 8, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING 
NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE. OTHER THAN AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 
8.1 AND 8.2, NO WARRANTY, WHETHER STATUTORY, WRITTEN, ORAL, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING 
WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, 
OR WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE, APPLIES UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT. 

9. TAXES AND GOVERNMENTAL FEES.  

9.1 Purchaser’s Taxes.  Purchaser is responsible for the payment of, or reimbursement of Seller, for all taxes, fees, 
or charges assessed on the generation, sale, delivery or consumption of Electrical Energy produced by the System. Seller shall 
notify Purchaser in writing with a detailed statement of such amounts, which shall be invoiced by Seller and payable by 
Purchaser.   

9.2 Seller’s Taxes.  Seller is responsible for: (1) payment of income taxes or similar taxes imposed on Seller’s 
revenues due to the sale of Electrical Energy under this Agreement; and (2) personal property taxes imposed on the System. 

10. FORCE MAJEURE. 

10.1 Definition.  “Force Majeure Event” means any act or event that prevents the affected Party from performing its 
obligations in accordance with this Agreement, if such act or event is beyond the reasonable control, and not the result of the 
fault or negligence, of the affected Party and such Party had been unable to overcome such act or event with the exercise of 
due diligence (including the expenditure of reasonable sums), including, without limitation, the following acts or events: (i) 
natural phenomena, such as storms, hurricanes, floods, lightning, volcanic eruptions and earthquakes; (ii) explosions or fires 
arising from lightning or other causes unrelated to the acts or omissions of the Party seeking to be excused from performance; 
(iii) acts of war or public disorders, civil disturbances, riots, insurrection, sabotage, epidemic, terrorist acts, or rebellion; (iv) 
strikes or labor disputes (except strikes or labor disputes caused solely by employees of Seller or as a result of such party’s 
failure to comply with a collective bargaining agreement); (v) action or inaction by a Governmental Authority, with 
jurisdiction thereof (unless Purchaser is a Governmental Authority and Purchaser is the Party whose performance is affected 
by such action or inaction).  A Force Majeure Event shall not be based on the economic hardship of either Party. 

10.2 Excused Performance.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, neither Party shall be 
considered in breach of this Agreement or liable for any delay or failure to comply with this Agreement (other than the failure 
to pay amounts due hereunder), if and to the extent that such delay or failure is attributable to the occurrence of a Force 
Majeure Event; provided that the Party claiming relief under this Article 10 shall as soon as practicable after becoming aware 
of the circumstances constituting Force Majeure (i) notify the other Party in writing of the existence of the Force Majeure 
Event, (ii) exercise all reasonable efforts necessary to minimize delay caused by such Force Majeure Event, (iii) notify the 
other Party in writing of the cessation or termination of said Force Majeure Event and (iv) resume performance of its 
obligations hereunder as soon as practicable thereafter; provided, however, that Purchaser shall not be excused from making 
any payments and paying any unpaid amounts due in respect of Solar Services delivered to Purchaser prior to the Force 
Majeure Event performance interruption. 

10.3 Termination in Consequence of Force Majeure Event.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, if a Force Majeure Event shall have occurred that has affected Seller’s performance of its obligations hereunder and 
that has continued for a continuous period of 180 days, then Purchaser shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement upon 90 
days’ prior written notice to Seller.  If at the end of such 90 day period such Force Majeure Event shall still continue, this 
Agreement shall automatically terminate.  Upon such termination for a Force Majeure Event, neither Party shall have any 
liability to the other (other than any such liabilities that have accrued prior to such termination), and the provisions of 
Section 2.2(a) (Early Termination) shall be inapplicable. 

11. DEFAULT.  

11.1 Seller Defaults and Purchaser Remedies. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 10 

(a)  Seller Defaults.  The following events shall be defaults with respect to Seller (each, a “Seller Default”): 

(i) A Bankruptcy Event shall have occurred with respect to Seller; and 

(ii) Seller breaches any material representation, covenant or other term of this Agreement and (A) if such 
breach can be cured within 30 days after Purchaser’s written notice of such breach and Seller fails to so cure, or (B) Seller 
fails to commence and pursue a cure within such 30 day period if a longer cure period is needed. 

(b)  Purchaser’s Remedies.  If a Seller Default described in Section 11.1(a) has occurred and is continuing, in 
addition to other remedies expressly provided herein, and subject to Article 12, Purchaser may terminate this Agreement and 
exercise any other remedy it may have at law or equity or under this Agreement. 

(c) No Early Termination Fee.  Seller shall not be entitled to the Early Termination Fee pursuant to Section 2.2(a) 
if this Agreement is terminated due to Seller's Default. 

11.2 Purchaser Defaults and Seller’s Remedies. 

(a)  Purchaser Default.  The following events shall be defaults with respect to Purchaser (each, a “Purchaser 
Default”): 

(i) A Bankruptcy Event shall have occurred with respect to Purchaser; 

(ii) Purchaser breaches any material representation, covenant or other term of this Agreement if (A) such 
breach can be cured within 30 days after Seller’s notice of such breach and Purchaser fails to so cure, or (B) Purchaser fails 
to commence and pursue said cure within such 30 day period if a longer cure period is needed; and 

(iii) Purchaser fails to pay Seller any undisputed amount due to Seller under this Agreement within 
30 days from receipt of notice from Seller of such past due amount. 

(b) Seller’s Remedies.  If a Purchaser Default described in Sections 11.2(a) has occurred and is continuing, in 
addition to other remedies expressly provided herein, and subject to Article 12, Seller may terminate this Agreement and upon 
such termination, (A) Seller shall be entitled to receive from Purchaser the Early Termination Fee pursuant to Section 2.2(a), 
and (B) Seller may exercise any other remedy it may have at law or equity or under this Agreement. 

12. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY. 

12.1 Except as expressly provided herein, neither Party shall be liable to the other Party or its Indemnified Parties 
for any special, punitive, exemplary, indirect, or consequential damages, losses or damages for lost revenue or lost profits, 
whether foreseeable or not, arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement. 

12.2 A Party’s maximum liability to the other Party under this Agreement, shall be limited to the aggregate Estimated 
Remaining Payments as of the date of the events giving rise to such liability, provided, however, the limits of liability under 
this Section 12.2 shall not apply with respect to (i) indemnity obligations hereunder in respect of personal injury, intellectual 
property infringement or environmental claims and (ii) any obligation of Purchaser to pay Solar Service Payments, or the 
Early Termination Fee. 

13. ASSIGNMENT. 

13.1  Assignment by Seller.  Seller shall not sell, transfer or assign (collectively, an “Assignment”) this Agreement 
or any interest therein, without providing prior written notice to Purchaser. Purchaser acknowledges that Seller may assign 
this Agreement to a Financing Party or an Affiliate in connection with development, construction and/or permanent financing 
facilities, including without limitation structured tax equity and/or securitization financing.  In the event that Seller identifies 
a secured Financing Party in Schedule 1-5 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), or in a subsequent notice to Purchaser, 
then Purchaser shall comply with the provisions set forth in Schedule 2-1 of this Exhibit 2 (General Terms and Conditions) 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 11 

and agrees to provide such estoppels and acknowledgments as Seller may reasonably request from time to time.  Any 
Financing Party shall be an intended third-party beneficiary of this Section 13.1.  

13.2. Acknowledgment of Collateral Assignment.  In the event that Seller identifies a secured Financing Party in 
Schedule 1-5 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), or in a subsequent notice to Purchaser, then Purchaser hereby 
acknowledges: 

(a)  the collateral assignment by Seller to the Financing Party, of Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under 
this Agreement. 

(b) that the Financing Party as such collateral assignee shall be entitled to exercise any and all rights of lenders 
generally with respect to Seller’s interests in this Agreement. 

(c)  that it has been advised that Seller has granted a first priority perfected security interest in the System to the 
Financing Party and that the Financing Party has relied upon the characterization of the System as personal property, as agreed 
in this Agreement in accepting such security interest as collateral for its financing of the System. 

13.3 Assignment by Purchaser. Purchaser shall not assign this Agreement or any interest therein, without Seller’s 
prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Within 90 days of Purchaser 
providing the Seller with information on credit, interconnection transferability, and any other information reasonably 
requested by Seller,  Seller will provide Purchaser a determination if it consents to such Assignment. Any Assignment by 
Purchaser without the prior written consent of Seller shall be void and not release Purchaser of its obligations hereunder.  

14. NOTICES. 

14.1 Notice Addresses.  Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices and communications concerning 
this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the other Party (or Financing Party, as the case may be) at the addresses 
set forth in Schedule 1-5 of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms and Conditions), or at such other address as may be designated in writing 
to the other Party from time to time.  In the event a Party (including a Financing Party) desires to change the notice address, 
the Party desiring such change shall provide written notice to all other Parties of such change. 

14.2 Notice.  Unless otherwise provided herein, any notice provided for in this Agreement shall be hand delivered, 
sent by registered or certified U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, by commercial overnight delivery service, or transmitted by email 
(with PDF notice attached) and shall be deemed delivered to the addressee or its office when received at the address for notice 
specified above when hand delivered, upon confirmation of sending when sent by email (if sent during normal business hours 
or the next Business Day if sent at any other time), on the Business Day after being sent when sent by overnight delivery 
service (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded), or five Business Days after deposit in the mail when sent by U.S. 
mail. 

14.3 Address for Invoices.  All invoices under this Agreement shall be sent e-mailed as a PDF to the e-mail address 
provided by Purchaser in Exhibit 1, Schedule 1-5, or other e-mail address as the Purchaser may request by delivering a notice 
of change of address to the Seller.  

15.  RESERVED. 

16. INDEMNITY. 

16.1 General.  Each Party (the “Indemnifying Party”) shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other Party, its 
affiliates and the other Party’s and its affiliates’ respective directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, agents and 
employees (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), from and against any loss, damage, expense, liability and other claims, 
including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees (collectively, “Liabilities”) resulting from (1) any Claim (as defined in 
Section 16.2 relating to the Indemnifying Party’s breach of any representation or warranty set forth in Section 8 and (2) injury 
to or death of persons, and damage to or loss of property to the extent caused by or arising out of the negligent acts or 
omissions of, or the willful misconduct of, the Indemnifying Party (or its contractors, agents or employees) in connection 
with this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing herein will require the Indemnifying Party to indemnify the Indemnified 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 12 

Parties for any Liabilities to the extent caused by or arising out of the negligent acts or omissions of, or the willful misconduct 
of, an Indemnified Party. This Section 16.1 does not apply to Liabilities arising out of or relating to any form of Hazardous 
Materials or other environmental contamination, such matters being addressed exclusively by Section 16.3. 

16.2 Notice and Participation in Third Party Claims. The Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party written 
notice with respect to any Liability asserted by a third party (a “Claim”), as soon as possible upon the receipt of information 
of any possible Claim or of the commencement of such Claim. The Indemnifying Party may assume the defense of any Claim, 
at its sole cost and expense, with counsel designated by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified 
Party. The Indemnified Party may, however, select separate counsel if both Parties are defendants in the Claim and such 
defense or other form of participation is not reasonably available to the Indemnifying Party. The Indemnifying Party shall 
pay the reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by such separate counsel until such time as the need for separate counsel expires. 
The Indemnified Party may also, at the sole cost and expense of the Indemnifying Party, assume the defense of any Claim if 
the Indemnifying Party fails to assume the defense of the Claim within a reasonable time. Neither Party may settle any Claim 
covered by this Section 16.2 unless it has obtained the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Indemnifying Party has no liability under this Section 16.2 for any Claim for which 
such notice is not provided if the failure to give notice prejudices the Indemnifying Party. 

16.3 Environmental Indemnification. Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless all of Seller’s 
Indemnified Parties from and against all Liabilities arising out of or relating to the existence at, on, above, below or near the 
Premises of any Hazardous Materials to the extent deposited, spilled or otherwise caused by Purchaser or any of its 
contractors, agents or employees.  

17.  INSURANCE. 

17.1 Generally.  Seller shall maintain the following insurance coverages in full force and effect throughout the Term 
either through insurance policies or acceptable self-insured retentions: (a) Workers’ Compensation Insurance as may be from 
time to time required under applicable federal and state law and (b) Commercial General Liability Insurance with limits of 
not less than $2,000,000 general aggregate, $1,000,000 per occurrence.  Additionally, Seller shall carry adequate property 
loss insurance on the System. The amount and terms of property insurance coverage will be determined at Seller’s sole 
discretion.  It is understood that all such insurance shall be independent and not tied to any indemnity provision.  It is the 
intention of the Parties that the additional insured coverage to be provided hereunder shall provide primary and first dollar 
coverage.  In addition, it is understood and agreed that Seller’s obtaining or failure to obtain the required insurance shall in 
no way relieve Seller from its indemnity obligations hereunder.  Further, Seller’s indemnity obligations shall extend to the 
full amount of any damage, loss or liability described in the indemnity provisions of this Agreement, and the Seller’s 
indemnity obligations shall not be limited to the amount of insurance obtained or required. Failure of Seller to obtain and 
maintain insurance provided herein shall be deemed a Seller Default pursuant to Section 11.1, and Purchaser shall be entitled 
to relief as set forth therein. Seller shall cause each contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, and/or its agents 
employed/engaged by Seller to purchase and maintain insurance of the type coverage and with limits specified above. 

17.2 Certificates of Insurance.  Each Party, upon request, shall furnish current certificates evidencing that the 
insurance required under Section 17.1 is being maintained.  Each Party’s insurance policy provided hereunder shall contain a 
provision whereby the insured agrees to give the other Party 30 days’ written notice before the insurance is cancelled or 
materially altered. 

17.3 Additional Insureds.  Each Party’s insurance policy shall be written on an occurrence basis and shall include 
the other Party as an additional insured as its interest may appear. 

17.4 Insurer Qualifications. All insurance maintained hereunder shall be maintained with companies either rated no 
less than A- as to Policy Holder’s Rating in the current edition of Best’s Insurance Guide (or with an association of companies 
each of the members of which are so rated) or having a parent company’s debt to policyholder surplus ratio of 1:1.  

18. MISCELLANEOUS. 

18.1 Integration; Exhibits.  The Agreement, together with the Exhibits and Schedules attached thereto or 
incorporated by reference, constitute the entire agreement and understanding between Seller and Purchaser with respect to 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 13 

the subject matter thereof and supersedes all prior agreements relating to the subject matter hereof which are of no further 
force or effect.  The Exhibits and Schedules attached to this Agreement, including these General Conditions as incorporated 
by reference, are integral parts of this Agreement and are an express part of this Agreement.  In the event of a conflict between 
the provisions of these General Conditions and any applicable Special Conditions, the provisions of Exhibit 1 (Special Terms 
and Conditions) shall prevail. 

18.2 Amendments.  This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an instrument in writing 
executed by duly authorized representatives of Seller and Purchaser. 

18.3 Industry Standards.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, for the purpose of this Agreement the normal 
standards of performance within the solar photovoltaic power generation industry in the relevant market shall be the measure 
of whether a Party’s performance is reasonable and timely.  Unless expressly defined herein, words having well-known 
technical or trade meanings shall be so construed. 

18.4 EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES. TO THE EXTENT THAT THIS AGREEMENT SETS FORTH SPECIFIC 
REMEDIES FOR ANY CLAIM OR LIABILITY, SUCH REMEDIES ARE THE AFFECTED PARTY’S SOLE AND 
EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES FOR SUCH CLAIM OR LIABILITY, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT 
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE. 

18.5 Sovereign Immunity.  To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Purchaser hereby waives any defense of 
sovereign immunity that Purchaser might otherwise have in connection with any action taken by Seller to enforce its rights 
against Purchaser under this Agreement.  

18.6 Limited Effect of Waiver.  The failure of Seller or Purchaser to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement, 
or the waiver thereof, shall not be construed as a general waiver or relinquishment on its part of any such provision, in any 
other instance or of any other provision in any instance. 

18.7 Survival.  The obligations under Sections 2.2 (Early Termination), Section 7.1(d) (Seller Covenant), Section 
8.3 (Exclusion of Warranties), Article 9 (Taxes and Governmental Fees), Article 12 (Limitation of Liability), Article 14 
(Notices), Article 15 (Confidentiality), Article 16 (Indemnity), Article 18 (Miscellaneous), or pursuant to other provisions of 
this Agreement that, by their sense and context, are intended to survive termination of this Agreement shall survive the 
expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

18.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 
of California without reference to any choice of law principles.  

18.9 Severability.  If any term, covenant or condition in this Agreement shall, to any extent, be invalid or 
unenforceable in any respect under Applicable Law, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and each 
term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable 
Law and, if appropriate, such invalid or unenforceable provision shall be modified or replaced to give effect to the underlying 
intent of the Parties and to the intended economic benefits of the Parties. 

18.10 Relation of the Parties.  The relationship between Seller and Purchaser shall not be that of partners, agents, or 
joint ventures for one another, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a partnership or agency 
agreement between them for any purposes, including federal income tax purposes.  Seller and Purchaser, in performing any 
of their obligations hereunder, shall be independent contractors or independent parties and shall discharge their contractual 
obligations at their own risk. 

18.11  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations under this Agreement shall be 
binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Seller and Purchaser and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

18.12 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which taken together 
shall constitute one and the same instrument. 



 

Exhibit 2 - Page 14 

18.13 Electronic Delivery.  This Agreement may be duly executed and delivered by a Party by electronic “pdf” 
delivery of the signature page or DocuSign. 

18.14 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement and all 
rights hereunder are intended for the sole benefit of the Parties hereto, and the Financing Parties to the extent provided herein 
or in any other agreement between a Financing Party and Seller or Purchaser, and do not imply or create any rights on the 
part of, or obligations to, any other Person.  

18.15 Liquidated Damages Not Penalty. Upon early termination, Purchaser acknowledges that the Early 
Termination Fee constitutes liquidated damages.  Purchaser further acknowledges that Seller’s actual damages may be 
impractical and difficult to accurately ascertain, and in accordance with Purchaser’s rights and obligations under this 
Agreement, the Early Termination Fee constitutes fair and reasonable damages to be borne by Purchaser in lieu of Seller’s 
actual damages. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]



CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
 
 

 
 

Exhibit 2 – Schedule 2-1 - Page 1 

Schedule 2-1 

Certain Agreements for the Benefit of the Financing Parties 

 Purchaser acknowledges that Seller will be receiving financing accommodations from one or more 
Financing Parties and that Seller may sell or assign the System or this Agreement and/or may secure Seller’s 
obligations by, among other collateral, a pledge or collateral assignment of this Agreement and a first security interest 
in the System.  In order to facilitate such necessary sale, conveyance, or financing, and with respect to any such 
Financing Party, Purchaser agrees as follows: 

(a) Consent to Collateral Assignment.  Purchaser consents to either the assignment, sale or conveyance to a 
Financing Party or the collateral assignment by Seller to a Financing Party, of Seller’s right, title and interest in and 
to this Agreement. 

(b) Notices of Default.  Purchaser will deliver to the Financing Party, concurrently with delivery thereof to 
Seller, a copy of each notice of default given by Purchaser under this Agreement, inclusive of a reasonable description 
of Seller default.  No such notice will be effective absent delivery to the Financing Party.  Purchaser will not mutually 
agree with Seller to cancel, modify or terminate this Agreement without the written consent of the Financing Party. 

(c) Rights Upon Event of Default.  Notwithstanding any contrary term of this Agreement: 

(i) The Financing Party, shall be entitled to exercise, in the place and instead of Seller, any 
and all rights and remedies of Seller under this Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and only 
in the event of Seller’s or Purchaser’s default. The Financing Party shall also be entitled to exercise all rights and 
remedies of secured parties generally with respect to this Agreement and the System. 

(ii) The Financing Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay all sums due under 
this Agreement and to perform any other act, duty or obligation required of Seller thereunder or cause to be cured any 
default of Seller thereunder in the time and manner provided by the terms of this Agreement.  Nothing herein requires 
the Financing Party to cure any default of Seller under this Agreement or (unless the Financing Party has succeeded 
to Seller’s interests under this Agreement) to perform any act, duty or obligation of Seller under this Agreement, but 
Purchaser hereby gives it the option to do so. 

(iii)  Upon the exercise of remedies under its security interest in the System, including any sale 
thereof by the Financing Party, whether by judicial proceeding or under any power of sale contained therein, or any 
conveyance from Seller to the Financing Party (or any assignee of the Financing Party) in lieu thereof, the  Financing 
Party shall give notice to Purchaser of the transferee or assignee of this Agreement. Any such exercise of remedies 
shall not constitute a default under this Agreement.   

(iv) Upon any default not reasonably susceptible to cure by a Finance Party, including, without 
limitation, rejection or other termination of this Agreement pursuant to any process undertaken with respect to Seller 
under the United States Bankruptcy Code, at the request of the Financing Party made within ninety (90) days of such 
default, Purchaser shall enter into a new agreement with the Financing Party or its designee having the same terms 
and conditions as this Agreement. 

(d) Right to Cure.  

(i) Purchaser will not exercise any right to terminate or suspend this Agreement unless it shall 
have given the Financing Party prior written notice by sending notice to the Financing Party (at the address provided 
by Seller)   of its intent to terminate or suspend this Agreement, specifying the condition giving rise to such right, and 
the Financing Party shall not have caused to be cured the condition giving rise to the right of termination or suspension 
within thirty (30) days after such notice or (if longer) the periods provided for in this Agreement.  The Parties agree 
that the cure rights described herein are in addition to and apply and commence following the expiration of any notice 
and cure period applicable to Seller  The Parties respective obligations will otherwise remain in effect during any cure 
period; provided that if such Seller default reasonably cannot be cured by the Financing Party within such period and 



CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
 
 

 
 

Exhibit 2 – Schedule 2-1 - Page 2 

the Financing Party commences and continuously pursues cure of such default within such period, such period for 
cure will be extended for a reasonable period of time under the circumstances, such period not to exceed additional 
ninety (90) days.   

(ii) If the Financing Party (including any purchaser or transferee), pursuant to an exercise of 
remedies by the Financing Party, shall acquire title to or control of Seller’s assets and shall, within the time periods 
described in Sub-section (d)(i) above, cure all defaults under this Agreement existing as of the date of such change in 
title or control in the manner required by this Agreement and which are capable of cure by a third person or entity, 
then such person or entity shall no longer be in default under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall continue in 
full force and effect 

(e) Release and Waiver; Financing Agreement Defaults. Until such time as all of Seller’s obligations to any 
Financing Party under an agreement between Seller and a Financing Party (a “Financing Agreement”) (excluding 
contingent indemnification and reimbursement obligations that, by their express terms, survive the repayment of the 
loans, interest, fees and other amounts owed under said Financing Agreement) have been paid in full, Purchaser hereby 
waives, releases and relinquishes to said Financing Party all right, title, interest, claim and lien which Purchaser has 
or may in the future have, under any and all Applicable Laws, including statutory rights, in, to or against the System. 
The System shall not be subject to levy, sale on distress or distraint for rent or any claim, lien or demand of any kind 
by Purchaser.  If an event of default occurs and is continuing under a Financing Agreement, Purchaser agrees that the 
affected Financing Party has the right to (i) enter the Premises to remove or dispose of the System at any time; (ii) 
take possession of and succeed to all of Seller’s right, title and interest under this Agreement, including the right to 
operate the System, and/or (iii)  prepare the System for sale and/or conduct a sale or liquidation of the System on the 
Premises and/or store the System on the Premises for a reasonable period in connection therewith. The Financing 
Party shall not be liable for rental storage charges under this Agreement or otherwise. Nothing herein or elsewhere 
shall be deemed to prevent or limit a Financing Party, at its option, from abandoning any part of the System.  Purchaser 
agrees that any action taken by a Financing Party to exercise its remedies under a Financing Agreement shall not 
constitute a default or event of default under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect 
following the exercise of such remedies.  Any assignment of the membership interests in the Seller shall constitute a 
permitted assignment under this Agreement and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect following such 
assignment, without the requirement of any further documentation regarding such assignment between Seller and 
Purchaser.



CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
 

 
Exhibit 3 - Page 1 

EXHIBIT 3 
Performance Guarantee 

 
This Performance Guaranty (“Guaranty”) sets forth the terms and conditions of a performance guaranty provided 
by Seller in conjunction with this Agreement. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings 
given such terms in this Agreement. The term of this Guaranty will be concurrent with the Term of this Agreement. 
The Parties acknowledge and agree that Table 1.A of this Exhibit 3 will be updated prior to the Commercial 
Operations Date based upon final System design, with figures equal to 75% of the updated Estimated Annual 
Production (kWh) set forth in Schedule 1-4. 

1. Guaranty. Seller guarantees that during the Term of this Agreement, for each Contract Year, the System 
will generate not less than the Pre-Adjustment Annual Production (kWh) of the System as set forth in 
Table 1.A below; provided that the Table 1.A values are subject to downward adjustment for weather 
conditions (such adjusted value, the “Guaranteed kWh”). For clarity purposes, any Electrical Energy 
exported to the Utility shall be included in the Pre-Adjustment Annual Production (kWh) value.  
 

A. Seller will use local weather data to determine the System’s Guaranteed kWh, based 
on the following methods if available and in descending order of preference:  

 
(i) satellite data provided by an independent third-party vendor of Seller; or 

(ii) available data from a locally installed weather station at the Premises. 

Table 1.A, projected production values assuming average weather conditions: 

 
Contract Year 

Pre-Adjustment Annual 
Production (kWh) 

Year 1 7,525,710 
Year 2 7,488,082 
Year 3 7,450,641 
Year 4 7,413,388 
Year 5 7,376,321 
Year 6 7,339,439 
Year 7 7,302,742 
Year 8 7,266,228 
Year 9 7,229,897 
Year 10 7,193,748 
Year 11 7,157,779 
Year 12 7,121,990 
Year 13 7,086,380 
Year 14 7,050,948 
Year 15 7,015,694 
Year 16 6,980,615 
Year 17 6,945,712 
Year 18 6,910,984 
Year 19 6,876,428 
Year 20 6,842,046 
Year 21 6,807,836 



CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
 
 

 
 

Exhibit 3 - Page 2 

 
Contract Year 

Pre-Adjustment Annual 
Production (kWh) 

Year 22 6,773,797 
Year 23 6,739,928 
Year 24 6,706,229 
Year 25 6,672,698 

Year 26 6,639,334 
Year 27 6,606,137 

Year 28 6,573,107 
Year 29 6,540,241 

Year 30 6,507,539 

Year 31 6,475,002 
Year 32 6,442,627 

Year 33 6,410,414 
Year 34 6,378,362 

Year 35 6,346,470 
 

B. If at the end of each successive Contract Year (set forth in Table 1.A) the Electrical 
Energy produced by the System as measured and recorded by Seller (the “Actual kWh”) is less than the 
Guaranteed kWh for that Contract Year, then Seller shall pay Purchaser the Prorated Amount. 

 
The “Prorated Amount” shall be an amount equal to (i) the kWh Shortfall multiplied by (ii) the 

applicable Performance Guarantee Payment Rate. 
 
The “kWh Shortfall” shall be an amount equal to the difference between (i) the Guaranteed kWh 

and (ii) the Actual kWh. 
  

Any such payment payable to Purchaser shall be credited to Purchaser as a credit on the invoice that is 
submitted by Seller at the end of such Contract Year.  

 
C. If a payment of greater than fifty dollars ($50) is due under Section 1(B), Seller will 

deliver a statement to Purchaser detailing the Guaranteed kWh and the calculation of the payment due. If 
no payment is due, then no statement or payment will be issued. 

 
D. “Performance Guarantee Payment Rate” means the dollar value per kWh set forth in 

Table 1.D below: 
 

Contract Year Performance 
Guarantee Payment 
Rate 

Year 1 $0.0893 
Year 2 $0.0906  
Year 3 $0.0920  
Year 4 $0.0933  
Year 5 $0.0947  
Year 6 $0.0962  
Year 7 $0.0976  



CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
 
 

 
 

Exhibit 3 - Page 3 

Contract Year Performance 
Guarantee Payment 
Rate 

Year 8 $0.0991  
Year 9 $0.1006  
Year 10 $0.1021  
Year 11 $0.1036  
Year 12 $0.1051  
Year 13 $0.1067  
Year 14 $0.1083  
Year 15 $0.1100  
Year 16 $0.1116  
Year 17 $0.1133  
Year 18 $0.1150  
Year 19 $0.1167  
Year 20 $0.1185  
Year 21 $0.1202  
Year 22 $0.1220  
Year 23 $0.1239  
Year 24 $0.1257  
Year 25 $0.1276  
Year 26 $0.1295  
Year 27 $0.1315  
Year 28 $0.1334  
Year 29 $0.1354  
Year 30 $0.1375  
Year 31 $0.1395  
Year 32 $0.1416  
Year 33 $0.1438  
Year 34 $0.1459  
Year 35 $0.1481  

 

2. Exclusions. The Guaranty set forth in Section 1 does not apply to the extent of any reduced generation 
from the System due to the following (including the downtime required for repair, replacement or correction): 

A. Force Majeure Event (as defined in this Agreement) and (i) a power or voltage surge 
caused by someone other than Seller, including a grid supply voltage outside of the 
standard range specified by CAISO; and (ii) theft of the System. 

B. Purchaser’s material breach of its obligations under this Agreement. 

3. Liquidated Damages; Waiver of Cost Savings. The Parties agree that the payment described in Section 
1(B) is a fair and reasonable approximation of the damages suffered by Purchaser as a result of underperformance 
of the System. 


	1_Pwrpa Cover
	2_2312_PWRPA Regular Agenda
	4_1_Consent Separator
	4_A_October Draft minutes
	4_B_November Draft minutes
	5_A_1_Treasurers Report_Separator
	5_A_2_BOD 12.2023
	5_B_1_R23-12-16 Separator
	5_B_2_R23-12-16 2024 Budget and Pro Forma Rate Schedule
	5_B_3_Exhibit B to Resolution 19
	5_C_1_R23-12-17 Separator
	5_C_2_R23-12-17_RBI
	5_C_3_2024-2026 PWRPA PSA
	5_D_1 Res 23-12-18 ACES PSA Separator
	5_D_2_ACES REZ
	5_D_3_ACES PWRPA Amendment No 1 to Exhibit A  - Fees (final) 11-1-23
	6_A_1 GM Separator
	6_A_2_GM Dec Report
	6_B_1_OM Separator
	6_B_2_Dec23 Ops Memo
	6_C_1_R.23-12-19 2024 Officers Separator
	6_C_2_R23-12-19 Officers for 2024
	7_A_1_R23-12-20 CWD REC Agmt Separator
	7_A_2_CWD REC Rez
	7_A_3_Draft REC long-term contract_CWD
	7_B_1_R23-12-21 WSID PPA Rate Agmnt Separator
	7_B_2_R23-12-21  WSID Solar Project Rez
	7_B_3_WSID Rate Agreement DRAFT 231201
	7_B_4_sep
	7_B_5_4867-4407-8228.4 WP - West Stan - SPSA



